

Universiteit Leiden

ICT in Business and the Public Sector

Measuring the impact of five factors on success for nearshoring projects

Name: Elias de Beer Student-no: s2768917

Date: 07/06/2022

1st supervisor: Christoph Johann Stettina 2nd supervisor: Joost Visser

MASTER'S THESIS

Leiden Institute of Advanced Computer Science (LIACS) Leiden University Niels Bohrweg 1 2333 CA Leiden The Netherlands

Universiteit Leiden

ICT in Business and the Public Sector

Abstract

Background

Organizations have been relocating business activity for many years. This began with offshoring, or relocating to lower-wage countries, primarily in Asia. Nearshoring has gradually gained popularity since the early 2000s. In this scenario, organizations relocate work to countries that are closer geographically and/or culturally while also being lower wage countries in the majority of cases. This simple description captures the essence of the nearshoring method well; nearshoring assists organizations in resolving the cost-risk vs. distance conundrum by selecting sites that may not always deliver the greatest cost savings, but are associated with lower risks.

Aim

Work relocation to offshore countries has been widely adopted in the last few decades, but nearshoring is becoming increasingly important. Organizations are attempting to gain a competitive advantage by focusing more on nearshore locations. The study's findings should aid in the decisionmaking process for nearshoring from a variety of perspectives. The definition of success for nearshoring projects will be broken down into several dimensions, each of which has a different impact on the project's success.

Method

Furthermore, a quantitative survey is used to identify success factors for IT Services transition projects to nearshore locations. In the first section of the survey we ask several questions for demographic information on the person, organization and recent nearshoring project. In the second part we provide 6 dimensions, divided in 28 statements that are measured with a 1-7 Likert scale.

Results

Primarily we visualized all of the data into several tables, charts and diagrams, which give a good first impression of the data. By analyzing the survey results and performing statistical analysis we created a research model that shows the impact of five factors on nearshore project success. We also separated the research model into a buyer and supplier perspective to highlight significant differences of each side on the success.

Conclusion

Based on our findings, we believe that Trust is critical to the success of nearshore projects. The transfer of knowledge and the liaison quality between on-site and nearshore staff also has a significant impact on success. On the other hand, nearshoring expertise has little to no effect on these arrangements and measuring the success of a nearshore project based on a project's suitability is unreliable. Lastly, the data suggests that the COVID-19 pandemic may signal an increase in nearshoring projects worldwide.

Acknowledgements

Foremost, I would like to thank Dr. Christoph Stettina, my first university supervisor, for the (bi-) weekly reviews and excellent supervision. From the beginning to the end of this research project, his professional insight and personal guidance have been invaluable. I appreciate the time you dedicated to assisting me with this project. Additionally, I would like to show my gratitude to Joost Visser, my second university supervisor, who also gave me invaluable and detailed feedback throughout our three extensive meetings. Thank you for your time and assistance throughout this project.

Furthermore, I would like to thank my company supervisor, Menno Olgers, for all the time, effort, and insights that you provided from the beginning to the end. You provided me with the opportunity to conduct this study within Aegon, you were kind enough to share your network in order for me to obtain the results I have now, and I appreciate the time you devoted to our weekly meetings. I hope you enjoyed this journey with me.

In addition, I'd like to thank all research participants for their time and contributions. Without these insightful observations, this research would not have been possible.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my family and friends for their motivation, encouragement and support throughout my research project.

Elias de Beer

The Hague, June 7th 2022

Table of contents

| Abstract | 2 |
|--|------|
| Acknowledgements | 3 |
| List of figures and tables | 7 |
| List of abbreviations | 9 |
| Glossary | . 10 |
| 1. Introduction | . 11 |
| 1.1. Background and context | . 11 |
| 1.2. Research problem | . 12 |
| 1.3. Research aim and objectives | . 12 |
| 1.4. Research scope | . 12 |
| 1.5. Research question | . 13 |
| 1.6. Research outline | . 13 |
| 2. Literature review | . 14 |
| 2.1. Literature search | . 14 |
| 2.2. Benefits & success of offshore and outsourcing projects | . 15 |
| 2.3. Determinants of offshore project success | . 16 |
| 2.4. Offshore versus nearshore | . 17 |
| 3. Theoretical Framework | . 18 |
| 3.1. Nearshore project success | . 18 |
| 3.2. Drivers of nearshore project success | . 18 |
| 3.2.1. Nearshoring expertise | . 19 |
| 3.2.2. Trust | . 20 |
| 3.2.3. Nearshore project suitability | . 21 |
| 3.2.4. Knowledge transfer | . 22 |
| 3.2.5. Liaison quality | . 23 |
| 4. Methodology | . 24 |
| 4.1. Research Method | . 24 |
| 4.2. Unit of Analysis | . 24 |
| 4.3. Survey | . 24 |
| 4.3.1. Survey Design | . 25 |
| 4.3.2. Survey Distribution | . 26 |
| 5. Data and descriptive results | . 27 |
| 5.1. Data and Sample size | . 27 |
| 5.2. Sample characteristics | . 27 |

| | 5.2. | .1. Organization size | 27 | |
|------|--|---|------|--|
| | 5.2. | 2.2. Industry type | 28 | |
| | 5.2. | 2.3. Experience in off-/nearshoring | 28 | |
| | 5.2. | .4. Nearshore transition projects | 29 | |
| | 5.2. | 2.5. Survey statements results | 34 | |
| 6. | Ana | alysis and hypotheses testing | 37 | |
| 6. | 1. | Data preparation | 37 | |
| 6. | 2. | Descriptive statistics | 37 | |
| 6. | 3. | Reliability testing | 38 | |
| 6. | 4. | Correlation analyses | 40 | |
| 6. | 5. | Hypotheses testing | 42 | |
| | 6.5. | .1. Full sample analysis | 42 | |
| | 6.5. | .2. Buyer perspective analysis | 44 | |
| | 6.5. | 3.3. Supplier perspective analysis | 47 | |
| 7. | Disc | cussion | 51 | |
| 7. | 1. | Trust is crucial to the success of nearshore projects | 51 | |
| 7. | 2. | Knowledge transfer and liaison are second most important to success | 52 | |
| 7. | 3. | Nearshoring expertise plays a minor role to success | 53 | |
| 7. | 4. | Unreliability of the project suitability dimension | 54 | |
| 7. | 5. | 2021 could indicate a push towards nearshoring | 54 | |
| 7. | 6. | Practical implications & Recommendations | 55 | |
| 7. | 7. | Limitations & Threats to validity | 56 | |
| 8. | Con | nclusion | 57 | |
| 8. | 1. | Conclusion | 57 | |
| 8. | 2. | Further research | 57 | |
| Refe | renc | ces | 58 | |
| Арр | endix | ix A – Overview of statements from previous studies | 65 | |
| Арр | endix | ix B – Survey design | 68 | |
| Арр | endix | ix C – Heatmap of respondents on-site global distribution | 87 | |
| Арр | endix | ix D – Heatmap of respondents nearshore global distribution | 88 | |
| Арр | endix | ix E – Descriptive statistics (full sample) | 89 | |
| Арр | endix | ix F – Undimensional Reliability test results (Full sample) | 90 | |
| Арр | Appendix G – Undimensional Reliability test results (Supplier perspective) | | | |
| Арр | Appendix H – Undimensional Reliability test results (Buyer perspective)96 | | | |
| Арр | endix | ix I – Linear regression analysis results (full sample) | . 99 | |

| Appendix J – Linear regression analysis results (Buyer perspective) | 102 |
|--|-----|
| Appendix K – Linear regression analysis results (Supplier perspective) | 105 |
| Appendix L – Dataset | 108 |

List of figures and tables

| Figure 1: Google Ngram for key terms (Surdea-Blaga, 2019) | . 11 |
|--|------|
| Figure 2: Literature review search process | . 15 |
| Figure 3: Partial Least Squares (PLS) results for research model (Westner & Strahringer, 2010) | . 16 |
| Figure 4: Research models | . 18 |
| Figure 5: Design Survey Overview (Verhoeven, 2019) | . 25 |
| Figure 6: Industry types | . 28 |
| Figure 7: Count of responses by On-site country | . 29 |
| Figure 8: Count of responses by Nearshore country | . 30 |
| Figure 9: Count of responses by year of project finish | . 30 |
| Figure 10: Types of IT Services | . 32 |
| Figure 11: Project/Product Management Methods | . 32 |
| Figure 12: Sourcing model options | . 33 |
| Figure 13: Nearshoring intentions | . 33 |
| Figure 14: Nearshoring reasons | . 34 |
| Figure 15: Satisfaction level per statement for successful nearshoring projects (n=64) | . 34 |
| Figure 16: Agreeableness level per statement for successful nearshoring projects (n=64) | . 35 |
| Figure 17: Satisfaction level per statement for successful nearshoring projects (n=32) | . 36 |
| Figure 18: Agreeableness level per statement for most successful nearshoring projects (n=32) | . 36 |
| Figure 19: Resulting research model (full data sample) | . 42 |
| Figure 20: Resulting research model (buver perspective) | . 45 |
| Figure 21: Resulting research model (supplier perspective) | . 48 |
| | |
| Table 1: Outsourcing vs. in-house activities (Surdea-Blaga, 2019) | . 12 |
| Table 2: Search terms used for different search facets | . 14 |
| Table 3: Amount of Buyer- and Supplier-side respondents | . 27 |
| Table 4: Count of responses by organization size | . 28 |
| Table 5: Count of responses by Experience in off-/nearshoring | . 29 |
| Table 6: Count of responses by project role | . 31 |
| Table 7: Count of responses by sourcing type | . 31 |
| Table 8: Dimensions with indicators | . 37 |
| Table 9: Descriptive statistics from the buyer perspective | . 38 |
| Table 10: Descriptive statistics from the supplier perspective | . 38 |
| Table 11: Interval of Chronbach's Alpha reliability (Suvidno, Nur, Yuanita, & Prahani, 2017) | . 39 |
| Table 12: Summary of reliability test results (full sample) | . 39 |
| Table 13: Summary of reliability test results (buyer perspective) | . 39 |
| Table 14: Summary of reliability test results (supplier perspective) | . 40 |
| Table 15: Pearson's correlations for full sample | . 40 |
| Table 16: Pearson's Correlations for buyer-side | . 41 |
| Table 17: Pearson's Correlations for supplier-side | . 41 |
| Table 18: Coefficients for Multiple Linear Regression on Nearshore project success (Full sample) | . 43 |
| Table 19: Coefficients for Multiple Linear Regression on Knowledge Transfer (full sample) | . 43 |
| Table 20: Coefficients for Multiple Linear Regression on Liaison quality (full sample) | . 44 |
| Table 21: Coefficients for Single Linear Regression on Trust (full sample) | . 44 |
| Table 22: Coefficients for Multiple Linear Regression on Nearshore project success (huver | |
| perspective) | . 45 |
| Table 23: Coefficients for Multiple Linear Regression on Knowledge Transfer (huver perspective) | . 46 |
| | |

| Table 24: Coefficients for Multiple Linear Regression on Liaison quality (buyer perspective) |
|--|
| Table 25: Coefficients for Single Linear Regression on Trust in NSP (buyer perspective) 4 |
| Table 26: Coefficients for Multiple Linear Regression on Nearshore project success (supplier |
| perspective) 4 |
| Table 27: Coefficients for Multiple Linear Regression on Knowledge Transfer (supplier perspective) 4 |
| Table 28: Coefficients for Multiple Linear Regression on Liaison quality (supplier perspective) 4 |
| Table 29: Coefficients for Single Linear Regression on Trust in on-site staff (supplier perspective) 5 |
| Table 30: Measurement instrument for research model (buyer-side) |
| Table 31: Measurement instrument for research model (supplier-side) |

List of abbreviations

| Abbreviation | Explanation |
|--------------|----------------------------|
| NSP | Nearshore Service Provider |
| IT | Information Technology |
| SSC | Shared Services Center |
| ITS | IT Services |
| GTS | Global Technology Services |

Glossary

| Term | Definition |
|-------------------------------------|---|
| Skimming | To read the abstract, conclusion and check for relevant models, |
| | figures and questionnaires in a research paper |
| Offshore (offshoring) | Moving work to countries that cost less and are also far away. (Carmel & Abbott, 2006) |
| Nearshore (nearshoring) | Moving work to countries that cost less but are not too far away. This can be in geographical but also cultural distances. (Carmel & Abbott, 2006) |
| Outsourcing | The use of external agents to perform one or more organizational activities. (Brooks, 2006) |
| Captive/in-house | Also called global in-house centres, wherein sourcing firms make products or services using a separate organisational unit. (Zimmermann, Oshri, Lioliou, & Gerbasi, 2018) |
| Nearshore Service Provider (NSP) | An organisation that provides services to customers from a nearshore location. |
| Snowball technique | Snowball sampling is where research participants recruiter other participants for a test or study in order to find the desired amount. It is also known as is also known as cold-calling, chain sampling, chain- referral sampling, and referral sampling. (Everitt & Skrondal, 2010) (Levine, 2014) |
| Shortlist | A limited list of important items or individuals. (Merriam-Webster, n.d.) |
| Shared Services Center | A shared service is an accountable entity within a multi-unit organization tasked with supplying the business unit, respective divisions and departments with specialized services (finance, HR transactions, IT services, facilities, logistics, sales transactions) on the basis of a service level agreement (SLA) with a costs charge out on basis of some type and system of transfer price. (Strikwerda, 2010) |
| IT Services | IT services is a general term that incorporates the application of business and technological skills to assist businesses in the creation, management, and optimization of information and business processes, as well as their access to them. |

1. Introduction

This chapter provides an introduction to the research by first discussing the background and context, followed by the research problem, research aims, objectives and questions, the scope and lastly the outline.

1.1. Background and context

The relocation of business activity has been applied by organizations for many years. Offshoring focuses on the relocation of business functions from home base to foreign locations. This strategy is classified as a novel managerial practice and dates back to the late 1970s (Roza, Bosch, & Volberda, 2011). In terms of contractual and geographical consequences, a wide range of dynamic and unique offshore scenarios can be distinguished (Jahns, Hartmann, & Bals, 2006). Offshoring, according to Kotabe & Murray (2004), may be divided into three types of contractual arrangements: arm's length relationships, strategic partnerships, and owned subsidiaries overseas. Companies can shift activities to either "offshore" (distant) or "nearshore" locations (Dmitrij Slepniov, 2013).

Since 1995, the terms outsourcing, offshore, and nearshoring have begun to appear in literature. The raw data from the Google Books Ngram Viewer project, version 2, was used to determine their application (see Google, 2012). In *Figure 1*, the terms "outsourcing," "offshoring," and "nearshoring" appear sequentially. The term "outsourcing" reached its peak in 2006, whereas the term "nearshoring" started to appear in English-language books in 2004, according to the data provided. The information from Ngram Viewer was processed by the author in order to compile the chart (Surdea-Blaga, 2019).



Figure 1: Google Ngram for key terms (Surdea-Blaga, 2019)

According to The Economist (The rise of nearshoring, 2005), nearshoring is the business of relocating activities such as production, research and business processes to countries that are quite cheap and quite close rather than very cheap and far away. This very basic description captures the core of the nearshoring method well; nearshoring assists organizations in resolving the cost-risk vs. distance conundrum by selecting sites that may not always deliver the greatest cost reductions, but are linked with reduced hazards. This definition of nearshoring is supported by a small body of literature (Kvedaraviciene, 2008; Shamis et al., 2005; Kamann and van Nieulande, 2010; Hutzschenreuter et al., 2011). While activities from the United States are increasingly being nearshored to Mexico, Central and Eastern Europe have emerged as favored nearshoring destinations for Western Europe.

According to Deloitte's head of global manufacturing research, Peter Koudal, nearshoring is becoming a more visible trend as part of the effort by global companies to improve the value they get out of their foreign investments (Marsh, 2005).

1.2. Research problem

Offshoring to distant countries has been widely adopted in the last few decades, but nearshoring is a relatively new concept. Instead of offshoring, an increasing number of organizations decide to distribute their work to countries within similar time zones in order to gain a competitive advantage. A study comparing nearshoring and far-shoring discovered that customer perceived quality and purchase intention were significantly higher for nearshoring compared to far-shoring (Annarita Colamatteo, 2021). Several other studies also show whether to do (captive or outsource) offshoring or nearshoring and the risks, benefits and drawbacks of both options (Ruohonen, 2009; Carmel & Abbott 2007; Hahn et al., 2011). Although there has been extensive research on outsourcing and offshore, little has been done on nearshoring in general, let alone when and how to do it.

1.3. Research aim and objectives

This research is intended for managers who plan to initiate a nearshoring project, which is a project that incorporates relocating business activities from an on-site location to a nearshore location. The findings of the study should support in the decision-making process for nearshoring from a variety of perspectives. The success of a nearshoring project will be broken down into several dimensions, each of which has a different impact on the project's success.

1.4. Research scope

To avoid bias, the research focuses on two organizational perspectives. The first perspective is the on-site location of an organisation that is already involved in nearshore transition projects. By obtaining their insights and experience, future projects can be supported in optimally executing these transitions. The other perspective is the perspective is that of nearshore locations that have also had one or more projects in this area. There are two types of nearshore governance modes to consider: outsource and captive (in-house) nearshoring.

According to Contractor et al. (2011) *Table 1* summarizes the four possible outcomes for a business when acquiring the business services it needs to operate in another location. When a foreign country is involved, the phrase "offshoring" is frequently used. Nearshoring limits offshore geographically, with a simple definition being "supplier is close in terms of distance and time zone differences" (Oshri, Kotlarsky, & Willcocks, 2015).

| In-house/ same | Independent |
|----------------------------------|---|
| company | supplier |
| Same company/ branch in local | Domestic outsourcing |
| country | |
| Own subsidiary or in | Offshore outsourcing |
| a remote location | |
| | In-house/ same company Same company/ branch in local country Own subsidiary or in a remote location |

 Table 1: Outsourcing vs. in-house activities (Surdea-Blaga, 2019)

We focus our research on four dimensions: (1) global positions with experience in relocating business activity to a nearshore location, (2) the nearshore consuming client's perspective, (3) the

nearshore supplier perspective, and (4) our unit of analysis is 'completed nearshore transitioning projects', i.e., not the entire relationship between supplier and consumer along with nearshored work after the project is completed, but only the project of moving business activity from on-site to nearshore.

1.5. Research question

This research study examines determinants of nearshore project success from a supplier and client's perspective. The following research question (RQ) is formulated accordingly and will be answered throughout the research project:

What are dimensions that have an impact on the success of nearshoring projects?

To answer this question, a confirmatory-quantitative research approach is used to facilitate in nearshoring decision-making.

1.6. Research outline

This section aims to demonstrate the process of answering the research question by presenting the research outline. This consists of the following chapters:

- Chapter 2: Describing how and which literature is found, related to the research question;
- Chapter 3: Further investigating the research topic, nearshore project success, and proposing hypotheses;
- Chapter 4: Explaining how the research question is answered by describing the methodology;
- Chapter 5: Presenting the data and descriptive results through tables, graphs and models;
- Chapter 6: Analyzing the data by applying different statistical methods;
- Chapter 7: Revisiting and discussing the research question by discussing the data and findings;
- Chapter 8: Concluding the study by describing the research question and purpose, explaining the key findings, and concluding with a statement.

2. Literature review

This chapter provides the basis of the research project. It consists of a comprehensive literature review of research done in the field of offshore as well as nearshore project success. There is a lot of research available that measures the success of offshoring projects, but since nearshoring is an emerging topic, little research has been conducted. *Paragraph 2.1* of this chapter discusses the data collection method in greater detail. This paragraph describes the methods and techniques used to locate relevant scientific papers. In *paragraph 2.2.*, multiple studies are used to compare various definitions of offshore project success. Additionally, *paragraph 2.3.* expands on the study chosen for this research from an offshore perspective. *Finally, paragraph 2.4.* defines nearshoring and contrasts it with the more generic term of offshoring.

2.1. Literature search

A targeted literature review is conducted by utilizing a variety of different search strings. These search terms were entered into Google Scholar in order to locate the appropriate studies that would provide a solid foundation for my research. Google Scholar acted as a sufficient and centralized resource for locating the accurate findings when using the appropriate keywords. Eventually numerous definitions and synonyms were combined to locate the appropriate literature. This literature discusses the importance of "IT sourcing and IT shoring project success" and the critical or dimensional factors that contribute to the success of those projects. The keywords used in Google Scholar are listed in *Table 2*. These terms were combined with the operators "OR," "AND," and brackets, as in *("Nearshor" OR "Offshor") AND "project success."* Additionally, quantitative research results were filtered to identify previously developed questionnaires, indicators, and statements (with scales, e.g. Likert) that could be replicated in this study. A final search string that produced useful studies included the following: *("impact" OR "success") AND ("nearshoring" OR "IT sourcing") AND ("survey" OR "questionnaire") AND "teams"*.

| Facets | Keywords |
|-----------------------|---|
| Sourcing or Shoring | <pre>("outsourcing" OR "IT sourcing" OR "outsource); "nearshore"; "nearshoring"; "nearshor"; "offshore"; "offshoring"; "offshor"; ("nearshor" OR "offshor"); "outsource"; "outsourcing"; "outsourc"; "IT outsourcing"; "IT Sourcing"; "captive"; "sourcing strategy"; "sourcing strategies"</pre> |
| Project success | "project success"; "project"; "projects"; "project success model"; "sourcing metrics"; "outsourcing metrics"; "outsourcing KPI's"; "sourcing KPI's"; critical success factors for outsourcing; "outsourcing configurations"; "project performance"; "outsourcing project performance"; "project quality"; "outsourcing project quality"; ("impact" OR "success"); "project impact"; "teams"; "team success"; "success" |
| Quantitative research | "survey"; "indicators"; "quantitative research"; "quantitative study"; "questionnaire"; "Likert scale" |

Table 2: Search terms used for different search facets

Using these keywords in conjunction with the various operators (AND, OR and brackets), over 100 papers were skimmed in order to identify relevant articles for this research. Another technique for discovering relevant papers was to employ the snowball technique, which involves scanning referenced papers in studies identified during the preliminary search. The main objective was to find papers that contained elements such as an existing research model and quantitative survey statements that support the dimensions in the model. The keywords searching and snowball technique resulted in a total of 11 results that were prioritized in a Word document by using a variety of criteria, including citations, relevance and quality (such as of existing questions and model). *Figure 2* summarizes the search process.



2.2. Benefits & success of offshore and outsourcing projects

An offshore project is one that involves the relocation of certain processes, tasks, and/or people from on-site to an offshore location. Offshore projects can be done more efficiently if their success is measured. The term "success" can be quantified in a variety of ways. According to Erickson and Ranganathan (2006), "offshore project effectiveness" is determined by six different indicators: *schedule, budget, functionality, quality, objectives and satisfaction*. From a slightly different angle, Grover, Cheon and Teng (1996) examined firms that outsource IT functions, their outsourcing performance and consists of two characteristics that might influence this success: *service quality and partnership*.

Trust is a well-established factor in outsourcing success, or as Lee & Choi (Lee & Choi, 2011) phrase it, "outsourcing benefits." They examined the effect of initial trust, ongoing trust, initial distrust, and ongoing distrust on the benefits of outsourcing. Additionally, they examined the effect of knowledge sharing on these dimensions of trust. Furthermore, this study examined the effect of three minor factors on the outsourcing benefits: project size, project type, and prior relationship. They examined these connections from the perspective of both service receivers and providers. The findings indicate that trust is less important for service recipients than it is for service providers. The other relationships examined have a negligible to no effect.

Furthermore, offshore or outsourcing project success can be understood and measured from an expectations fulfilment view (Lacity & Willcocks, 1998), a cost/benefit approach (Wang E. T., 2002), a psychological contract perspective on fulfilled obligations (Christine Koh & Straub, 2004), and a strategic fit view of success (Lee & Shaila M. Miranda, 2004). These various approaches for determining success are applicable to all types of projects, whether they are outsourced or developed internally. (Erickson & Ranganathan, 2006).

Numerous studies define success as the satisfaction of outcomes, which is sometimes calibrated by initial expectations (Balaji and Ahuja 2005, Grover et al. 1996, Dahlberg and Nyrhinen 2006, Wüllenweber et al. 2008). According to Dahlberg and Nyrhinen (2006), satisfaction with outcomes can be divided into four categories: *strategic, economic, technological and social factors*. Additionally, Dahlberg and Nyrhinen's research incorporates overall satisfaction into their definition of success.

Strategic, economic, technological and social outcome factors may also apply to projects but they are not applicable in all cases. For example one might think of projects that completely lack a specific strategic proposition (Westner M., 2009). Given that a project is by definition an effort constrained by schedule, budget, functionality, and quality (Erickson & Ranganathan, 2006), it makes more sense to operationalize offshore project success using these dimensional elements in conjunction with "overall satisfaction".

Therefore, Westner (2009) defines offshore project success as perceived satisfaction with the overall result of the offshore project, as well as with the time, budget, functionality, and quality aspects. In two separate studies, Westner developed and researched a model for defining offshore project success. Since his research establishes a solid foundation for understanding the determinants of offshore project success through the combination and application of multiple prior models, his model is used as a reference for this thesis. The following sub-chapter will delve deeper into his research model.

2.3. Determinants of offshore project success

Westner's (2009) primary study identifies five dimensions that affect the success of offshore projects. These dimensions were formed through preliminary research on a variety of articles, as discussed in *paragraph 2.2.* According to this research the following five dimensions are positively associated with offshore project success: *offshoring expertise, trust in offshore service provider, project suitability, knowledge transfer and liaison quality.* He put his model into practice and tested the relationships between those five dimensions and offshore project success in the follow-up research he conducted with Strahringer (2010). As illustrated in *Figure 3,* this resulted in a range of correlations between these dimensions.



Figure 3: Partial Least Squares (PLS) results for research model (Westner & Strahringer, 2010)

As depicted in *Figure 3*, offshoring expertise shows a positive effect on offshore project success, project suitability, and knowledge transfer. However, when it comes to trust, it has a much greater impact on the related dimensions: knowledge transfer, liaison quality, and offshore project success.

2.4. Offshore versus nearshore

According to Hahn et al. (2011), nearshoring is conventionally defined as the relocation of work from the home country to a geographically proximal host country which has a strong economic integration agreement with the home country. On the other hand, offshoring (or farshoring) is defined as the relocation of work from the home country to a non-proximate host country or to one without a strong economic integration agreement with the home country the home country.

Academic research comparing offshore and nearshore outsourcing has emerged in recent years, attributed to the increasing potential for nearshoring of Information Services (IS). From an empirical perspective, Hahn, et al. (2011) say that some firms shore to countries that are very close – geographically, economically and institutionally – while others offshore to more distant and distinct locations. Compared to offshoring, nearshoring provides certain obvious benefits for manufacturing, such as reduced transportation costs and the related ability to capitalize on faster turnaround times in a conventional supply chain involving physical delivery via trucks, rail or ships (Salvador, Forza, & Rungtusanatham, 2002). However, since many services can now be rapidly delivered electronically at very low cost, the traditional advantage of nearshoring—offshoring to locations that are geographically proximate to the home market—appears to be much less salient in the case of services.

From another perspective, nearshore outsourcing of IT software development projects is frequently assumed to result in improved team communication at a higher cost than farshore outsourcing (Looi & Szepan, 2021). The geographic distribution and temporal distance of development sites have a significant impact on quality (Cataldo & Nambiar, 2009). The research of Looi & Szepan (2021) prove this point. According to their research, one of the interviewees reported experiencing decreased efficiency, increased Project Management effort, and increased communication issues after relocating his development team from nearshore to farshore. Thus, it seems the added stress and overhead of temporal distance is an impediment to success. This sentiment was affirmed by other interviewees (Looi & Szepan, 2021).

3. Theoretical Framework

This chapter provides more details on the topic studied by defining what nearshore project success is in *paragraph 3.1*. The subsequent paragraph and sub-paragraphs describe how this is accomplished. *Paragraph 3.2*. presents two models illustrating the five critical success factors for nearshore project success from the buyer/consumer and supplier perspectives. These five success factors, or dimensions, are discussed in greater detail in the following sub-paragraphs.

3.1. Nearshore project success

Unexplored is the approach for determining the success of nearshore projects. As discussed in *paragraph 1.1*, the term "nearshoring" was coined in 2004, making it a relatively new and relatively recent concept. To address this gap, this research identifies the factors that contribute to the success of nearshore projects by building on the work of Westner and Strahringer (2010), who defined the determinants of offshore project success.

Nearshore project success is the dependent construct in the research model. As compared in *paragraph 2.2.* from an offshore perspective it can be measured in many ways, but for this research a similar approach as Westner's preliminary study is used (see *paragraph 2.3.*). So dependent construct, *nearshore project success* is interpreted as the perceived satisfaction with the outcome of the nearshore project in total, including the other sub-dimensions of schedule, budget, functionality and quality.

3.2. Drivers of nearshore project success

The success of nearshore projects is determined through the application of five constructs: two exogenous and three endogenous determinants. *Nearshoring expertise* and *Trust in the NSP* are exogenous determinants, they have an external influence on success. *Project suitability, Knowledge transfer* and *Liaison quality* all have an internal influence on success and are the endogenous determinants. *Figure 4* depicts the research models developed for this study. The model is duplicated because the correlations may be stronger or weaker depending on the perspective: buyer/consumer or supplier.



Figure 4: Research models

3.2.1. Nearshoring expertise

Westner defines *expertise* as "a certain degree of individual or organizational experience in managing or conducting offshoring in a more efficient and thus successful manner." This definition of expertise can also be applied to conducting nearshoring, so the actual definition of *nearshoring expertise* will be: "a certain degree of individual or organizational experience in managing or conducting nearshoring in a more efficient and thus successful manner." In organizational research this is commonly referred to as "learning curve effects" or "experience curve effects" (Day & Montgomery, 1983) (Ghemawat, 1985).

Delivery in a nearshore environment can introduce numerous challenges for all parties involved. Individuals as well as organizations can benefit from the best practices and experiences gained during previous engagements. As a result, they are better able to deal with nearshore-specific challenges. The beneficial effect of expertise on the diverse activities of the nearshore and offshore process, as well as on its project success, has been extensively researched. Carmel and Agarwal (2002) developed a maturity model for companies engaging in offshoring and give recommendations on how to progress along this maturity curve. This model is also applicable to organizations that engage in nearshoring, since in this study the definition of nearshoring was not introduced yet. In this paper it can be perceived as a subset of offshoring. This also applies to Kaiser and Hawk's (2004) eight-year study of offshore outsourcing alliances. Their study describes the progression of the alliance towards a more favorable co-sourcing model, for the buyer/client as well as the supplier. Similarly, Mirani (2006) demonstrates how increasing expertise results in a shift in the offshoring relationship from relatively straightforward to more complex arrangements.

Increased organizational and individual expertise enables organizations to overcome potential nearshoring challenges and thus increases the likelihood of project success. Thus, expertise benefits all three mediating constructs, as it is more likely that a company will select projects that are best suited for nearshoring based on past experiences. Additionally, the organization and individuals understand how to manage knowledge transfer and enhance the quality of their relationships based on their expertise.

The following hypotheses are formulated for the dimension "nearshoring expertise":

<u>Hypothesis 1 (H1):</u> ITS1 nearshoring expertise is positively and directly associated with nearshore project success from a buyer/consumer perspective.

<u>Hypothesis 2 (H2):</u> ITS nearshoring expertise is positively associated with project suitability from a buyer/consumer perspective.

<u>Hypothesis 3 (H3):</u> ITS nearshoring expertise is positively associated with knowledge transfer from a buyer/consumer perspective.

<u>Hypothesis 4 (H4):</u> ITS nearshoring expertise is positively associated with liaison quality from a buyer/consumer perspective.

<u>Hypothesis 11 (H11)</u>: ITS nearshoring expertise is positively and directly associated with nearshore project success from a supplier perspective.

<u>Hypothesis 12 (H12)</u>: ITS nearshoring expertise is positively associated with project suitability from a supplier perspective.

¹ ITS = Information Technology Services, see *Glossary* for more details

<u>Hypothesis 13 (H13):</u> ITS nearshoring expertise is positively associated with knowledge transfer from a supplier perspective. Hypothesis 14 (H14): ITS nearshoring expertise is positively associated with ligison quality from a

<u>Hypothesis 14 (H14):</u> ITS nearshoring expertise is positively associated with liaison quality from a supplier perspective.

3.2.2. Trust

We define trust as the "expectation that an actor (1) will fulfill responsibilities [...], (2) will behave predictably, and (3) will act and bargain fairly in the presence of the prospect of opportunism" (Zaheer, McEvily, & Perrone, 1998). Thus, trust might take on two distinct forms: interpersonal or interorganizational trust. Interpersonal trust is the belief that individuals have in their opposite member. The term "inter-organizational trust" refers to the confidence placed in a partner organization by members of a focal organization (Lee et al. 2008, Zaheer et al. 1998).

Throughout a nearshoring project, trust can be perceived differently depending on the user's perspective. In this study trust is looked at from two different perspectives: Nearshore Service Provider (NSP) and on-site staff. A Nearshore Service Provider is a provider of nearshore services, this could be a supplier and/or an inhouse nearshore location. By on-site staff we mean the receiver of nearshore services, this is the buyer-side and/or on-site inhouse location.

Trust is critical in an IT Services nearshoring environment because it enables and is a prerequisite for not only knowledge transfer but also team cooperation in general. Thus, trust increases an arrangement's maneuverability beyond the terms of the contract. Individuals and organizations that trust one another are more likely to collaborate and make extra effort when necessary (Lee, Huynh, & Hirschheim, 2008).

Although there has been little research on the role of trust in IT Services nearshoring, much can be said from a slightly different perspective. Trust has long been recognized as an important arrangement feature in Information Systems (IS) outsourcing research. Increased trust appears to have a positive impact on the client-vendor relationship (Grover et al. 1996, Lee and Kim 1999, Winkler et al. 2008). Recent empirical studies show that trust is positively related to the extent of knowledge sharing (Lee, Huynh, & Hirschheim, 2008) and that trust, as mediated by cooperative learning, has a significant beneficial effect on knowledge transfer (Park, Im, & Kim, 2011). According to IS offshoring studies, trust is a critical success factor for the contact between the offshore consumer and provider (Jennex & Adelakun, 2003). In a case study, Kaiser and Hawk (2004) confirm this and view the establishment of trust as a recommended practice for effective outsourcing because it allows collaboration between on-and offshore staff. As a result, offshore labor becomes productive quickly, and projects progress more quickly. Winkler et al. (2008) show that while pursuing specific goals, trust has a positive effect on the degree of closeness between an offshore customer and a service provider. Rottman (2008) demonstrates how trust increases employees' willingness to share and contribute, facilitating knowledge transfer within an outsourcing arrangement.

Trust appears to influence knowledge transfer because people who trust one another are more likely to share their knowledge. This is especially true when dealing with implicit, or persistent, knowledge. Furthermore, trust encourages and facilitates cooperation and communication, as well as improves the quality of liaison among team members.

The following hypotheses are formulated for the dimension "Trust in NSP":

<u>Hypothesis 5 (H5):</u> Trust in NSP is positively associated with liaison quality. <u>Hypothesis 6 (H6):</u> Trust in NSP is positively associated with knowledge transfer.

The following hypotheses are formulated for the dimension "Trust in on-site staff":

<u>Hypothesis 15 (H15):</u> Trust in on-site staff is positively associated with liaison quality. <u>Hypothesis 16 (H16):</u> Trust in on-site staff is positively associated with knowledge transfer.

Additionally to the indirect effects on nearshoring project success, you could also hypothesize a direct impact. However, due to the model's lack of theoretical support, we proceed with caution regarding its direct influence on model success and subsequent interpretation of results:

<u>Hypothesis 7 (H7):</u> Trust in NSP is positively and directly associated with nearshore project success. <u>Hypothesis 17 (H17):</u> Trust in on-site staff is positively and directly associated with nearshore project success.

3.2.3. Nearshore project suitability

We define nearshoring suitability as the capacity of a project's features and task characteristics to be delivered in a dispersed, intercultural environment, i.e., in a nearshoring scenario.

Prior to engaging in an ITS nearshoring contract, one of the initial steps is to identify prospective project candidates for nearshoring. Once discovered, these nearshoring possibilities serve as the fundamental items for further ITS nearshoring implementations. As a result of research and practice, identifying prospective project applicants is a critical first step in pursuing an ITS nearshoring endeavor (Aron and Singh 2005, Chua and Pan 2006, Kumar and Palvia 2002).

According to research in IT outsourcing, there is a link between the functions being outsourced and the success of the arrangement (Fisher, Hirscheim, & Jacobs, 2008). They suggest focusing on routine and non-core tasks. From a slightly different perspective to nearshoring, according to Stratman (2008) successful offshoring is typically associated with well-understood, standardized non-core service processes. Stringfellow, Teagarden, and Nie (2008) demonstrate that offshoring complex, loosely defined, and non-standardized tasks requiring complex judgments and implicit knowledge is more difficult. If a project or task exhibits certain qualities, offshoring incurs additional expenditures, which may jeopardize project success.

Westner (2008) conducted a qualitative pre-study with 47 German near- and offshoring experts from various companies to confirm the validity of the correlation between project suitability and project success and to determine the appropriate evaluation criteria. These experts confirmed in their interviews that the characteristics of a project and its suitability for near- and offshoring have a significant impact on the subsequent success of the project. Numerous criteria were mentioned during these interviews, including the size of the project, its duration, the operating language used, the degree of codification, and the business's specificity. When projects are of a certain size and duration, the project language is English, the degree of codification is high, and the degree of business specificity or required domain knowledge is low, it takes less time and effort to fully productively utilize staff on the near-/offshore service provider side.

The following hypothesis is formulated for the dimension "Nearshore project suitability":

<u>Hypothesis 8 (H8)</u>: Nearshore project suitability is positively associated with nearshore project success from a buyer/consumer perspective.

Given the fact that the above-mentioned interviews were conducted from the perspective of the buyer, hardly anything can be said from the supplier perspective that is backed up by research. As a result, we proceed cautiously in terms of its impact on model success and subsequent interpretation of results from a supplier standpoint:

<u>Hypothesis 18 (H18)</u>: Nearshore project suitability is positively associated with nearshore project success from a supplier perspective.

3.2.4. Knowledge transfer

We define knowledge in accordance with Davenport and Prusak (1998) and Lee, Huynh, and Hirschheim (2008) as "a fluid mix of experience, values, contextual information, and expert insight that provides a framework for evaluating and incorporating new experiences and information" (Davenport & Prusak, 1998). Knowledge transfer occurs as a result of (1) systematic knowledge exchange between individuals and organizations (Chua & Pan, 2006) (Wang, Tong, & Koh, 2004) and (2) the ability to absorb, apply, and utilize knowledge in project delivery (Orlikowski, 2002) (Oshri, Kotlarsky, & Willcocks, 2015).

To experience the economic benefits of nearshoring, its employees must effectively replace more expensive on-site employees (Chua & Pan, 2008). As a result, all explicit and implicit knowledge pertinent to the project must be transferred to nearshore staff. This knowledge transfer occurs at the start of a nearshoring project but continues throughout the duration of the project. Similarly, industry-accepted and research-proposed nearshoring process models recognize knowledge transfer as a distinct activity (Bugajska 2007, Oshri et al. 2015, Voigt, Novak and Schwabe 2007).

Applying this perspective highlights the critical nature of knowledge transfer, which has been addressed in research. In these studies, the term "offshoring" refers to the process of offshoring to any location abroad, including nearshore locations. Chua and Pan (2008) analyze how a financial institution transferred knowledge inside a captive offshoring arrangement and emphasize the critical nature of knowledge transfer for successful service delivery in a case study. Another case study, from the service provider perspective, by Oshri et al. (2015) examines best practices for managing dispersed knowledge across on- and offshore sites, recognizing that knowledge transfer is a critical component of successful offshoring. Ganesh and Moitra (2004) previously identified knowledge transfer and the OSP's absorbent capacity as critical success factors for effective service transition in the context of business process outsourcing. Rottman and Lacity (2008) identify optimal practices for successful offshoring of IT work. The majority of these best practices are inextricably tied to facilitating and ensuring the smooth transfer of information. Lastly, in one of the few recent empirical-confirmatory studies, Lee et al. (2008) study IT outsourcing arrangements between Korean enterprises and discover considerable support for the hypothesis that knowledge sharing is associated with outsourcing success.

Thus, if knowledge transfer is successful, (1) nearshore staff is more productive because they have the necessary know-how to complete project tasks, and (2) on-site staff may be replaced as originally planned because they no longer possess exclusive knowledge.

The following hypotheses are formulated for the dimension "Knowledge transfer":

<u>Hypothesis 9 (H9):</u> Knowledge transfer is positively associated with nearshore project success from a buyer/consumer perspective.

<u>Hypothesis 19 (H19)</u>: Knowledge transfer is positively associated with nearshore project success from a supplier perspective.

3.2.5. Liaison quality

We define liaison quality as the degree of connectivity between on-site and NSP staff with the objective of achieving specified goals, in this case, the project objectives (Winkler, Dibbern, & Heinzl, 2008). The relationship between staff members should be mutually beneficial and incorporate closeness (Xu & Yao, 2006).

Erickson and Ranganathan (2006) emphasize the importance of clearly defined roles, responsibilities, communication mechanisms, and mechanisms for resolving conflict in managing global virtual teams. Rottman (2008) recognizes the importance of liaison quality to success and recommends developing personal connections between supplier and consumer staff, such as through regular site visits and face-to-face meetings. Additionally, he proposes integrating near- and offshore staff with on-site staff and coordinating employee training with internal training efforts. Similarly, Heeks et al. (2001) discover that a high degree of congruence between supplier and consumer increases the likelihood of a project's schedule and budget success. They suggest building bridging relationships between involved team members and utilizing "straddlers," or dedicated individuals who are in charge of facilitating and moderating interactions between on-site and near-/offshore staff. Levina and Vaast (2008) state that the quality of the liaison mitigates the negative effects of distance, thereby improving performance. They identify effective on-site middle managers, frequent communication, constructive communication, and efficient technology use as practices that can help improve the liaison quality. Other research confirms these findings, highlighting the positive effect of liaison quality on the performance of liaison engineers and personal relationships (Kobitzsch, Rombach, & Feldmann, 2001), the facilitation of informal communication (Herbsleb & Mockus, 2003), the presence of expert intermediaries, and supplier presence on-site (Carmel & Nicholson, 2005).

Attaining acceptable levels of liaison in a nearshore or offshore project setting appears to be difficult due to the detrimental effects of cultural and physical distance. However, liaison between on-site and nearshore staff is vital for collaboration, working efficiency, and productivity.

The following hypotheses are formulated for the dimension "Liaison quality":

<u>Hypothesis 10 (H10)</u>: Liaison quality is positively associated with nearshore project success from a buyer/consumer perspective.

<u>Hypothesis 20 (H20)</u>: Liaison quality is positively associated with nearshore project success from a supplier perspective.

4. Methodology

This chapter explains how the research question will be answered. It starts in *paragraph 4.1* by presenting the research question, the research method chosen, and the reasoning for that choice. The Unit of Analysis is then introduced in *paragraph 4.2*. This is the group of people being studied. Finally, in *paragraph 4.3*, the research survey is expanded upon by detailing its contents and demonstrating how the survey is distributed in order to collect responses.

4.1. Research Method

Data can be gathered in one of two ways: quantitative or qualitative research. The method used should be in line with the conceptual framework and its propositions (Hak, 2011). As stated in *paragraph 1.5*, this study will answer one research question. This study examines five critical success factors for nearshore projects from the perspective of both the supplier and the client. Accordingly, the following research question (RQ) is formulated:

What are dimensions that have an impact on the success of nearshoring projects?

To address these questions and to aid in nearshoring decision-making, a confirmatory-quantitative research approach is used. Additionally, a research model that incorporates these nearshoring success factors is used to validate and visualize the correlations between all dimensions of nearshoring project success. The model's hypotheses are tested quantitatively, and the results are presented in the following chapters. To collect pertinent data, a quantitative research survey is conducted. By conducting a survey, it is possible to collect data on all dimensions presented in the research model (see *paragraph 3.2.*) in a consistent manner. The study is quantitative in nature, allowing the findings to be generalized to the general population. Surveys are commonly used in this type of research, as demonstrated by Chow and Cao (2008).

4.2. Unit of Analysis

Each study has a distinct target audience, also known as the unit of analysis. The study's unit of analysis is the group of people/organizations being analyzed (Cohen, Manion, & Morrison, 2000). It is crucial to keep this group in mind, as well as its limitations, prior to or during the survey's development. The unit of analysis in this study is divided into two categories: (1) individuals who have engaged in at least one (nearly) finalized IT Services nearshore transition project as a receiver of nearshore services and (2) individuals who have engaged in at least one (nearly) finalized IT Services nearshore services. Two questions were asked during the first part of the survey to verify the respondents' suitability.

4.3. Survey

The survey was designed in a structured manner using the Survey Design Overview steps (Verhoeven, 2019) and the tool Qualtrics. We were able to create a concise survey for respondents and later for data analysis by following the iterative steps shown in *Figure 5*. The two major parts of the survey that were created can be described as (1) the demographical data used for descriptive statistics and (2) the data used for inferential statistics.



Figure 5: Design Survey Overview (Verhoeven, 2019)

The survey's general overview was created by starting with the step "Select the construct and find its dimensions." Subsequent, the following steps were taken to frame, evaluate, and refine these questions and response options. Additionally, reviewing other research surveys facilitated in the development of a strong questionnaire. Mainly two references were used during the survey development. A prior study by Westner (2010) was used in creating reliable survey statements. The results including references is shown in *Appendix A*. Westner's (2010) study was also used for the creation of several descriptive questions. Additional descriptive questions were created with assistance with another survey: "State of Agile in Procurement & Supply 2022" by Christina Reet² (2022).

4.3.1. Survey Design

The survey consists of four sections: Introduction, Demographics, Statements and Final thoughts. Each of these parts will be explained in this paragraph and the full survey can be found in *Appendix B*.

4.3.1.1. Survey Design – Introduction

The first section is the landing page. This page is kept brief and concise to prevent the participant from abandoning the survey due to having to read too much text. The research topic is introduced first, followed by the survey expectations, which include the duration of the survey, its anonymity, and the use of results. The page concludes with a listing of the researchers' names and titles.

4.3.1.2. Survey Design – Demographics

The second section of the survey is dedicated to gathering demographic information. This will help to support the research findings by providing more context on the types of survey respondents. The

² Christina Reet works for the organization Agile Business Consortium, member of Professional Associations Research Network (PARN)

first part of this section asks respondents questions about their organization's size, industry, and years of experience in near-/offshoring, followed by two verification questions about the respondent's suitability for the survey. The second section delves deeper into the respondent's most recent IT Services nearshore transition project, asking 9 to 11 questions about his or her experience. The number of questions varies according to the type of respondent. If the respondent is a recipient of nearshoring services, two questions are asked about the respondent's intention(s) and reason(s) for nearshoring. Additionally, this question decides how the statements are presented to the respondent.

4.3.1.3. Survey Design – Statements

The third section of the survey is about the five determinants of nearshoring project success as elaborated on in *Chapter 3*. Depending on which side the respondent represents (receiver or supplier of nearshore services), this section will be presented accordingly. Experiences of receivers could differ from suppliers, which makes it important to analyze the results of these determinants separately from one other. This section consists of six topics related to nearshoring success: *Nearshoring expertise, Trust in NSP* or *on-site staff, Project suitability, Knowledge transfer, Liaison quality* and *Nearshore project success*. The model's dimensions were latent, which meant they couldn't be measured directly. As a result, we developed a set of measurement indicators to operationalize each construct, reusing or adapting existing indicators from previous studies as needed. All constructs were measured reflectively and are based on Westner and Strahringer's research (2010). An overview of the measurement statements is presented in *Appendix A*. We used a 7-point Likert scale to assess each statement. These interval measures varied from 1 (*completely disagree, not important, or not satisfied at all*) to 7 (*completely agree, very important, or very satisfied*).

4.3.1.4. Survey Design – Final thoughts

This final section of the survey asks for additional feedback on the survey/research in general. Responses to this (optional) question could be used to verify the survey's consistency, identify possible missing pieces, and identify interesting items for future works. In addition, if respondents want to receive the research findings, they can leave their email address on this page.

4.3.2. Survey Distribution

The survey is conducted in co-operation with Aegon GTS, an in-house Global Technology Service Center of Aegon, located in Budapest. This enables a substantial network of relevant individuals to participate in this study. Besides that, other sources are also used to distribute the survey and collect a large number of responses. Relevant LinkedIn groups, connections and other people on LinkedIn with experience in nearshoring projects are contacted to gather responses. Finally, responses are collected via mailing and personal (virtual) contact using Microsoft Teams and LinkedIn.

The survey was distributed exclusively in English and utilized a variety of self-created textual and banner templates. It was available for a period of 6 weeks, starting February 21st and ending April 1st 2022.

5. Data and descriptive results

In this chapter we present the demographics and descriptive results that describe the context of the dataset that will be further analyzed in *Chapter 6*. In *paragraph 5.1*. we describe how the data is collected, including the amount of responses and sample size. Furthermore, in *paragraph 5.2*. the sample characteristics are presented by showing tables, graphs and diagrams of the data collected.

5.1. Data and Sample size

The survey was developed for a very specific audience. Despite this, the various methods of distribution, particularly the personal contact approach, yielded a large number of survey respondents. For personal targeting on LinkedIn, 625 global individuals were messaged, and 15 nearshoring experts were contacted via MS Teams. In addition, for six consecutive weeks, a public post was published in seven relevant LinkedIn groups. All responses were anonymous, making it impossible to determine where they originated from. Including all distribution methods, 145 respondents started taking the survey, for an approximate response rate of 23%. After cleaning the data, 92 valid responses remained, resulting in a completion rate of 63%. Data cleaning was conducted by removing invalid responses based on the following criteria: incomplete survey response, answered "no" to both Q4 and Q5, and/or illogical on-site to nearshore combination (distance considered offshore instead of nearshore) (see *Appendix B*). In the analysis, 92 responses represent the final sample size. The data was exported from the Qualtrics environment into Excel. Excel and JASP, a statistical analysis tool, were used for additional analysis and modeling. Due to the nature of this survey, no information regarding non-respondents is available; therefore, non-response bias cannot be determined in this context.

5.2. Sample characteristics

For the descriptive analysis, in many cases the results are divided into two groups: buyer and supplier side. This separation is important, because it is estimated that depending on the perspective, the influence on nearshoring project success can be very different. So the answer to the hypotheses and research question can be much different based on the perspective.

| Perspective | Frequency | Percent |
|--|-----------|---------|
| Buyer-side / On-site inhouse | 35 | 38% |
| Supplier-side / Inhouse nearshore location | 57 | 62% |
| Total | 92 | 100% |

Table 3: Amount of Buyer- and Supplier-side respondents

As seen in *Table 3,* 38% of respondents to the survey have responded from the Buyer-side / On-site inhouse (receiver of nearshoring services). The other 62% has responded from the Supplier-side / Inhouse nearshore location (provider of nearshoring services).

5.2.1. Organization size

Study participants came from various organization sizes. The organization sizes listed are based on the 'company sizes' listed in Westner & Strahringer's quantitative research (2010). The majority (42%) came from small organizations (<1.001 employees). As seen in *Table 4*, 19% of the responses is from mid-size organizations (1.001 to 5.000 employees), 23% from large organizations (5.001 to 25.000 organizations) and 16% from very large organizations (>25.000 employees).

| Organization size | Total count | Buyer-side count | Supplier-side count |
|---------------------------|-------------|------------------|---------------------|
| <1.001 employees | 39 (42%) | 11 (32%) | 28 (49%) |
| 1.001 to 5.000 employees | 17 (19%) | 5 (14%) | 12 (21%) |
| 5.001 to 25.000 employees | 21 (23%) | 13 (37%) | 8 (14%) |
| >25.000 employees | 15 (16%) | 6 (17%) | 9 (16%) |

Table 4: Count of responses by organization size

5.2.2. Industry type

As for the industry, respondents came from numerous different industries. The industries listed are based on the industries listed in Westner & Strahringer's quantitative research (2010). The majority of responses came from three industries: Information Technology (49%), Banking & Insurance (15%) and Consulting (11%). Other industries participants came from were Telecommunications (7%), Manufacturing (3%), Transportation (2%) and other industries that were only mentioned once as shown in *Figure 6*.



Figure 6: Industry types

5.2.3. Experience in off-/nearshoring

Most respondents have 3 or more years in off-/nearshoring. In total, 4% of the respondents had less than 1 year of experience in off-/nearshoring and 6% of the respondents had 1 to 2 years of experience. As shown in *Table 5*, 27% has 3 to 5 years, 22% has 6 to 9 years and 41% has more than 10 years of off-/nearshoring experience. If you separate the respondent's perspectives (buyer-supplier) you can see that most buyer-side respondents (40%) have 3 to 5 years of experience and most supplier-side respondents (53%) have more than 10 years of experience. This makes sense, because if you represent the supplier-side you need to have more experience in order to provide good off-/nearshoring services for your receivers. As a buyer it is understandable to have less experience in this field and that is also why you move your services towards an off-/nearshore location.

| Experience in off-/nearshoring | Total count | Buyer-side count | Supplier-side count |
|--------------------------------|-------------|------------------|---------------------|
| <1 year | 4 (4%) | 2 (5%) | 2 (4%) |
| 1 to 2 years | 5 (6%) | 2 (6%) | 3 (5%) |
| 3 to 5 years | 25 (27%) | 14 (40%) | 11 (19%) |
| 6 to 9 years | 20 (22%) | 9 (26%) | 11 (19%) |
| >10 years | 38 (41%) | 8 (23%) | 30 (53%) |

Table 5: Count of responses by Experience in off-/nearshoring

5.2.4. Nearshore transition projects

After the general characteristics of the respondent, more specific questions about the nearshoring project were asked to get more data on the type of nearshoring projects that are related to this sample.

5.2.4.1. On-site country

Retrieving more project-related data started by asking for the on-site country. Nearshoring project experiences from all over Europe and America were shared. Five countries were mentioned most of the time: Germany (24%), Netherlands (16%), United States of America (13%), United Kingdom (10%) and Switzerland (9%). *Figure 7* shows all on-site countries that are involved and the amount of responses. In *Appendix C* you can see a heatmap of how the countries are globally distributed. In this map you can easily see that on-site countries mainly reside in North America and Western Europe.



Figure 7: Count of responses by On-site country

5.2.4.2. Nearshore country

A lot of different Nearshore countries that are related to this research sample were mentioned. The majority of responses came from five countries: Poland (16%), Hungary (13%), Portugal (9%), Romania (9%) and Bulgaria (8%). *Figure 8* shows all Nearshore countries that are involved and the amount of responses. In *Appendix D* you can see a heatmap of how the countries are globally distributed. In this map you can easily see that on-site countries mainly reside in South & East Europe, North Africa and Latin & South America.



Figure 8: Count of responses by Nearshore country

5.2.4.3. Year of project finish

Based on the responses, most nearshore transition projects, finished between 2017 and 2023. This is shown in *Figure 9* and will be called the 'peak zone'. This indicates that recent projects are used for this study. You can also see that the responses range from 2007 to 2030, but only with a maximum of 3 responses outside of this 'peak zone'. Projects after 2022 are expected to finish in the years mentioned, so they are still in-progress.



Figure 9: Count of responses by year of project finish

5.2.4.4. Project roles

Next to the year the project finished, the role of the respondent is also identified. These various roles are based on the survey "State of Agile in Procurement & Supply 2022" by Christina Reet (2022). As illustrated in *Table 6*, respondents mainly adapted nearshoring project roles as: Leadership / Management / Board of Directors or similar (31%), IT / Technical / Developer (24%) and Business Unit Management (13%). Other roles mentioned were Project Management (13%), Contract / Commercial Management (5%) and Procurement / Supply Management (5%). The other 13% adapted roles that were later specified, but these roles were only mentioned once. As you also can see in *Table 6*, the roles as Business Unit Management and Contract / Commercial Management were mainly taken from the Supplier-side.

| Project roles | Total count | Buyer-side count | Supplier-side count |
|------------------------------------|-------------|------------------|---------------------|
| Leadership / Management / Board of | 28 (31%) | 12 (34%) | 16 (28%) |
| Directors or similar | | | |
| IT / Technical / Developer | 22 (24%) | 10 (29%) | 12 (21%) |
| Business Unit Management | 12 (13%) | 2 (6%) | 10 (18%) |
| Project Management | 8 (9%) | 5 (14%) | 3 (5%) |
| Contract / Commercial Management | 5 (5%) | 0 (0%) | 5 (9%) |
| Procurement / Supply Management | 5 (5%) | 3 (8,5%) | 2 (3%) |
| Other | 12 (13%) | 3 (8,5%) | 9 (16%) |

Table 6: Count of responses by project role

5.2.4.5. Sourcing types

Next up the respondents were asked if the buyer/supplier relationship is kept in-house (captive) or distributed to a third party (outsourcing). Based on the whole sample, most respondents have a third party (outsourcing) relationship between the buyer and supplier, but as you can see in *Table 7*, from a buyer perspective most respondents have an in-house (captive) relationship with their provider of IT Services.

| Sourcing type | Total count | Buyer-side count | Supplier-side count |
|---------------------------|-------------|------------------|---------------------|
| Third party (outsourcing) | 36 (63%) | 12 (34%) | 36 (63%) |
| In-house (captive) | 21 (37%) | 23 (66%) | 21 (37%) |

Table 7: Count of responses by sourcing type

5.2.4.6. IT Services types

Also the type(s) of IT Services that are nearshored in these projects were identified. These IT Services types listed are based on the survey "State of Agile in Procurement & Supply 2022" by Christina Reet (2022) and interviews with nearshoring experts. The three major nearshored IT Services are: Application services (30%), Systems operations (17%) and End-user support (15%). The other types of IT Services are: Administrative services (10%), Networks / telecommunications management (6%), System planning & management (6%) and Procurement services (3%). The remaining 13% was considered as miscellaneous types of IT Services (identified as 'other' in *Figure 10*).



Figure 10: Types of IT Services

5.2.4.7. Project/Product Management Methods

Throughout the nearshore transition projects different Project/Product Management (PM) Methods were used. As shown in *Figure 11,* most respondents (58%) used Agile Project/Product Management (e.g. Scrum, Kanban, etc.) as their PM Method. Only 19% used Traditional Project Management (e.g. PRINCE2, PMBoK, etc.) and 15% used both or a combination, such as PRINCE2 Agile, as their PM Method. Lastly, the leftover 8% didn't use any PM Method during the transition.



Figure 11: Project/Product Management Methods

5.2.4.8. Sourcing model options

For collecting data about the sourcing models, this dimension and the corresponding options in Fouad et al. (2021) their research were used. Sourcing model can be defined as the level of team governance and responsibility distribution between client and vendor. Additionally, one more option was added (Managed Delivery), which resulted in the following four options:

- Managed Service
 - When a vendor takes complete end-to-end responsibility
- Project execution and delivery/Managed Delivery
 - o When a vendor takes execution responsibility for the project and its staff
- Managed Capacity

- The client requests a certain quantity of person-days who are partially managed by the vendor
- Staff Augmentation/Unmanaged Capacity
 - When individuals are sourced without steering from vendor's side (nearshore location)



The results of this survey questions were quite balanced as shown in *Figure 12*.

Figure 12: Sourcing model options

5.2.4.9. Nearshoring intentions

By nearshoring intentions, we mean the reason(s) to shift work to a nearshore location. These various intentions for nearshoring are based on the survey "State of Agile in Procurement & Supply 2022" by Christina Reet (2022) and interviews with nearshoring experts. Based on the sample data, the main reason was to reduce costs (33%), as shown in *Figure 13*. Also more access to skills/capabilities (21%) was a key factor in shifting work to a nearshore location. Other intentions were: Limited capacity or capacity shortage (11%), Focus on core capabilities (8%), Risk reduction (7%), Improvement of service quality (6%), Innovation (6%), business alignment improvement (4%), Complexity reduction (2%), Stakeholder management improvement (1%) and Team morale improvement (1%).



Figure 13: Nearshoring intentions

5.2.4.10. Nearshoring reasons

By nearshoring reasons, we mean the reasons to shift work to a specific geographical location. These various reasons for nearshoring are based on the survey "State of Agile in Procurement & Supply 2022" by Christina Reet (2022) and interviews with nearshoring experts. Based on the sample data, the three main reasons were more Access to skills/capabilities (27%), having Similar timezones (22%) and having a good or better Cultural understanding (17%). Other reasons were: Common language (9%), (Geo-)political stability (8%), Risk reduction (6%), Company politics (2%) and Cost reduction (2%). The remaining 7% was considered as miscellaneous reasons for nearshoring to a specific geographical location (identified as 'other' in *Figure 14*).



Figure 14: Nearshoring reasons

5.2.5. Survey statements results

The *Nearshore project success* dimension was measured by a 1-7 Likert Scale on satisfaction level. Out of the 92 survey responses, 64 were considered successful. We decided if a project was successful by only selecting results with a *nearshore project success* score of at least "slightly satisfied". *Figure 15* illustrates the level of satisfaction for these successful nearshoring projects. To see the definition of the indicators (such as SUCCESS_1), see *Appendix A*.



Figure 15: Satisfaction level per statement for successful nearshoring projects (n=64)

From these 64 successful projects, the Agreeableness level is measured for each statement. The results are presented in *Figure 16*. These statements were measured with a 1-7 Likert scale, ranging from "Strongly agree" to "Strongly disagree". For a full description of the statements, see *Appendix A*.



Figure 16: Agreeableness level per statement for successful nearshoring projects (n=64)

In addition, we illustrate the results of the most successful nearshoring projects. These projects are filtered by selecting only those with an "extremely satisfied" response to the last survey statement (SUCCESS 5): "How satisfied was your organization with the overall outcome of our nearshore arrangement?" 32 of the 64 registered nearshoring projects were considered to be most successful. *Figure 17* illustrates the level of satisfaction for these most successful nearshoring projects. To see a full definition of the indicators, visit *Appendix A*.



Figure 17: Satisfaction level per statement for successful nearshoring projects (n=32)

From these 32 most successful projects, the Agreeableness level is measured for each statement. The results are presented in *Figure 18*. These statements were measured with a 1-7 Likert scale, ranging from "Strongly agree" to "Strongly disagree".



Figure 18: Agreeableness level per statement for most successful nearshoring projects (n=32)
6. Analysis and hypotheses testing

This chapter analyzes the data and puts all of the hypotheses generated in *Chapter 3* to the test. We prepare the data in *paragraph 6.1*. by performing a priori cleaning and applying indicators to the dimensions. Following that, in *paragraph 6.2*, we present descriptive statistics from the buyer and supplier perspectives. Additionally, in *paragraph 6.3*, a reliability test is conducted on each of the dimensions to ensure their reliability for the subsequent analyses and hypotheses testing. Finally, in *paragraph 6.4*, we conduct correlation analyses and, in *paragraph 6.5*, we test hypotheses using single and multiple regression analyses.

6.1. Data preparation

Before starting the analyses, some priori cleaning and organization was done for the results of the statements (see *paragraph 4.3.1.3.*) in order to perform the right analyses. Throughout the survey respondent's filled in the statements respectively to their perspective as a buyer or a supplier. The data was exported to and cleaned in Excel and subsequently analyzed in JASP. *Table 8* shows the dimensions that were analyzed and the synonyms that were used in the analysis.

| Perspective | Dimension | Indicator |
|-----------------------------|---|------------|
| Full sample | Nearshoring expertise | NSEXP |
| | Trust | TRUST |
| | Project suitability | SUITA |
| | Knowledge transfer | KNOWT |
| | Liaison quality | LIAISO |
| | Nearshore project success | SUCCESS |
| Buyer perspective (on-site) | Nearshoring expertise | OS_NSEXP |
| | Trust in Nearshore Service Provider (NSP) | OS_TRUST |
| | Project suitability | OS_SUITA |
| | Knowledge transfer | OS_KNOWT |
| | Liaison quality | OS_LIAISO |
| | Nearshore project success | OS_SUCCESS |
| Supplier perspective (NSP) | Nearshoring expertise | NS_NSEXP |
| | Trust in on-site staff | NS_TRUST |
| | Project suitability | NS_SUITA |
| | Knowledge transfer | NS_KNOWT |
| | Liaison quality | NS_LIAISO |
| | Nearshore project success | NS SUCCESS |

Table 8: Dimensions with indicators

6.2. Descriptive statistics

For the survey statements a 1-7 Likert-scale was used to determine the level of agreeableness and satisfaction with the dimensions mentioned in *Table 9*. For each dimension 3 to 6 statements were given and the results of these statements were combined to an average measurement level per dimension. *Table 9* presents a summary of the dataset from the buyer perspective (on-site).

| | OS_ | NSEXP OS | TRUST OS | _SUITA OS | <u>S_KNOWT OS</u> | LIAISO OS | SUCCESS |
|----------------|-----|----------|----------|-----------|--------------------------|-----------|---------|
| Valid | | 35 | 35 | 35 | 35 | 35 | 35 |
| Mode | a | 6.000 | 6.000 | 5.000 | 5.000 | 6.000 | 6.000 |
| Median | | 4.000 | 6.000 | 5.000 | 5.000 | 6.000 | 6.000 |
| Mean | | 4.143 | 5.543 | 5.114 | 5.286 | 5.543 | 6.000 |
| Std. Deviation | | 1.751 | 1.358 | 0.583 | 1.152 | 1.358 | 1.213 |
| Minimum | | 1.000 | 2.000 | 4.000 | 3.000 | 1.000 | 2.000 |
| Maximum | | 7.000 | 7.000 | 6.000 | 7.000 | 7.000 | 7.000 |

^a More than one mode exists, only the first is reported

Table 9: Descriptive statistics from the buyer perspective

The 35 buyer-side results show that the median is very similar to the mean, meaning that there is a reasonably symmetrical distribution. The mode shows the most common number in the sample dataset. 1 being the minimum and 7 being the highest score, you can see that there is a very positive level of agreeableness and satisfaction towards all dimensions. Because the minimum and maximum number for each dimension ranges between 1 and 7, a standard deviation of 0,5 to 1,7 is to be expected.

| | NS_NSEXPNS_ | TRUST NS | SUITA NS | KNOWT NS | LIAISO NS | SUCCESS |
|----------------|-------------|----------|----------|----------|-----------|---------|
| Valid | 57 | 57 | 57 | 57 | 57 | 57 |
| Mode | 7.000 | 6.000 | 5.000 | 6.000 | 6.000 | 6.000 |
| Median | 6.000 | 6.000 | 5.000 | 5.000 | 6.000 | 6.000 |
| Mean | 5.509 | 5.509 | 4.860 | 5.158 | 5.649 | 6.000 |
| Std. Deviation | 1.571 | 1.255 | 0.854 | 1.192 | 1.232 | 1.225 |
| Minimum | 1.000 | 1.000 | 3.000 | 1.000 | 1.000 | 1.000 |
| Maximum | 7.000 | 7.000 | 7.000 | 7.000 | 7.000 | 7.000 |

Table 10: Descriptive statistics from the supplier perspective

As presented in *Table 10*, the 57 supplier-side results also show that the median is very similar to the mean, meaning that there is a reasonably symmetrical distribution. The mode shows the most common number in the sample dataset. By 1 being the minimum and 7 being the highest score, you can see that there is a very positive level of agreeableness and satisfaction towards all dimensions. The nearshoring expertise dimension scored highest, meaning that most supplier-side respondents took part in projects with very experienced team members as well as their company having the right resources to execute nearshore arrangements. Because the minimum and maximum number for each dimension ranges between 1 and 7, a standard deviation of 0,5 to 1,7 is to be expected.

For the descriptive statistics of the whole dataset, see Appendix E.

6.3. Reliability testing

Following that, we prepared the data for analysis by conducting an unidimensional reliability test on the dimensions illustrated in *Table 8*. This test is done by identifying Chronbach's Alpha for each individual dimension. The intervals presented in *Table 11* are used to assess the results.

| Interval of Chronbach's Alpha (α) | Reliability criteria |
|--|-----------------------|
| $0.90 \le \alpha \le 1$ | Excellent reliability |
| 0.70 ≤ α < 0.90 | High reliability |
| 0.50 ≤ α < 0.70 | Moderate reliability |
| α < 0.50 | Low reliability |

Table 11: Interval of Chronbach's Alpha reliability (Suyidno, Nur, Yuanita, & Prahani, 2017)

After performing the tests on the full sample, the results showed that the dimension *Project suitability* (SUITA) is not reliable. *Table 12* shows a summary of the results and the full set of results is visible in *Appendix F*.

| Dimension | α value (point estimate) | Reliability level |
|---------------------------|--------------------------|-----------------------|
| Nearshoring expertise | 0.90 | Excellent reliability |
| Trust | 0.94 | Excellent reliability |
| Project suitability | 0.21 | Low reliability |
| Knowledge transfer | 0.75 | High reliability |
| Liaison quality | 0.94 | Excellent reliability |
| Nearshore project success | 0.91 | Excellent reliability |

Table 12: Summary of reliability test results (full sample)

From a buyer perspective the results are quite similar, these results also showed that the dimension *Project suitability* (OS_SUITA) is not reliable and in this case Chronbach's Alpha even has a negative value. This means that this dimension negatively correlates with the scale. *Table 13* shows a summary of the results and the full set of results is visible in *Appendix G*. Because the dimension *Project suitability* is below α 0.50, it has a low reliability and therefore will be dropped. Additionally, the Reliability Statistics show that this dimension negatively correlates with the scale.

| Dimension | α value (point estimate) | Reliability level |
|---|---------------------------------|-----------------------|
| Nearshoring expertise | 0.86 | High reliability |
| Trust in Nearshore Service Provider (NSP) | 0.94 | Excellent reliability |
| Project suitability | -0.40 | Low reliability |
| Knowledge transfer | 0.67 | Moderate reliability |
| Liaison quality | 0.95 | Excellent reliability |
| Nearshore project success | 0.88 | High reliability |

Table 13: Summary of reliability test results (buyer perspective)

After performing the tests on the supplier sample, the results were quite similar. The dimension *Project suitability* (NS_SUITA) is not reliable from a supplier perspective. *Table 14* shows a summary of the results and the full set of results are visible in *Appendix H*. Because the dimension *Project suitability* is below α 0.50, it has a low reliability and therefore will be dropped.

| Dimension | α value (point estimate) | Reliability level |
|---------------------------|--------------------------|-----------------------|
| Nearshoring expertise | 0.89 | High reliability |
| Trust in on-site staff | 0.94 | Excellent reliability |
| Project suitability | 0.40 | Low reliability |
| Knowledge transfer | 0.80 | High reliability |
| Liaison quality | 0.93 | Excellent reliability |
| Nearshore project success | 0.93 | Excellent reliability |

Table 14: Summary of reliability test results (supplier perspective)

6.4. Correlation analyses

Correlation analyses were conducted using nearshoring expertise, trust, knowledge transfer and liaison quality as independent variables and nearshore project success as dependent variable. Primarily, we investigated the relationship between *Nearshore project success* (SUCCESS), *Nearshoring expertise* (NSEXP), *Trust* (TRUST), *Knowledge transfer* (KNOWT), and *Liaison quality* (LIAISO) from the supplier perspective with a sample size (n) of 92 responses. Thus, we conducted a Pearson's correlation analysis, presented in *Table 15*. The results indicate that all variables correlate significantly with each other (p < 0.05).

We found that *Nearshore project success* was at least strongly correlated $[r(90) \ge 0.365, p < .001]$ with the other variables. Moreover, *Nearshoring expertise* had weak correlations with the *Trust* variable [r(90) = 0.254, p = 0.015].

| Variable | | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 |
|------------|-------------|----------|----------|------------|---------|---|
| 1. SUCCESS | Pearson's r | | | | | |
| | p-value | | | | | |
| 2. NSEXP | Pearson's r | 0.365*** | _ | | | |
| | p-value | < .001 | | | | |
| 3. TRUST | Pearson's r | 0.717*** | 0.254* | | | |
| | p-value | < .001 | 0.015 | _ | | |
| 4. KNOWT | Pearson's r | 0.742*** | 0.368*** | * 0.663*** | | |
| | p-value | < .001 | < .001 | < .001 | | |
| 5. LIAISO | Pearson's r | 0.753*** | 0.340*** | * 0.735*** | 0.635** | * |
| | p-value | < .001 | < .001 | < .001 | < .001 | _ |

* p < .05, ** p < .01, *** p < .001

Table 15: Pearson's correlations for full sample

Subsequently, we investigated the relationship between *Nearshore project success* (OS_SUCCESS), *Nearshoring expertise* (OS_NSEXP), *Trust in on-site staff* (OS_TRUST), *Knowledge transfer* (OS_KNOWT), and *Liaison quality* (OS_LIAISO) from the supplier perspective with a sample size (n) of 35 responses. Thus, we conducted a Pearson's correlation analysis, visible in *Table 16*. The results indicate that all variables correlate significantly with each other (p < 0.05) except for the correlations: *Nearshoring expertise* & *Trust* (p = 0.168) and *Nearshoring expertise* & *Liaison quality* (p = 0.093).

We found that *Nearshore project success* had weak correlation [r(33) = 0.402, p = 0.017] with *Nearshoring expertise* whereas other variables were at least strongly correlated [r(55) > 0.679, p < 0.001]. Moreover, *Nearshoring expertise* had weak correlations with every other variable including the *Nearshore project success* [r(33) < 0.489, p < 0.288]. On overall, aside from *Nearshoring expertise*, every variable correlated at least strongly [r(33) > 0.518, p < .001] with each other.

| Variable | | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 |
|---------------|-------------|----------|----------|-----------|---------|---|
| 1. OS_SUCCESS | Pearson's r | _ | | | | |
| | p-value | | | | | |
| 2. OS_NSEXP | Pearson's r | 0.402* | | | | |
| | p-value | 0.017 | | | | |
| 3. OS_TRUST | Pearson's r | 0.697*** | 0.239 | _ | | |
| | p-value | < .001 | 0.168 | _ | | |
| 4. OS_KNOWT | Pearson's r | 0.737*** | 0.489 ** | 0.593*** | | |
| | p-value | < .001 | 0.003 | < .001 | _ | |
| 5. OS_LIAISO | Pearson's r | 0.679*** | 0.288 | 0.665 *** | 0.518** | |
| | p-value | < .001 | 0.093 | < .001 | 0.001 | |

* p < .05, ** p < .01, *** p < .001

Table 16: Pearson's Correlations for buyer-side

Finally, we investigated the relationship between *Nearshore project success* (NS_SUCCESS), *Nearshoring expertise* (NS_NSEXP), *Trust in on-site staff* (NS_TRUST), *Knowledge transfer* (NS_KNOWT), and *Liaison quality* (NS_LIAISO) from the supplier perspective with a sample size (n) of 57 responses. Thus, we conducted a Pearson's correlation analysis, visible in *Table 17*. The results indicate that all variables correlate significantly with each other (p < 0.05).

We found that *Nearshore project success* had the weakest correlation [r(55) = 0.390, p = 0.003] with *Nearshoring expertise* whereas other variables were at least strongly correlated [r(55) > 0.732, p < .001]. Moreover, *Nearshoring expertise* had weak correlations with every other variable including the *Nearshore project success* [r(55) < 0.398, p < 0.019]. On overall, aside from *Nearshoring expertise*, every variable correlated at least strongly [r(55) > 0.7091, p < .001] with each other.

| Variable | | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 |
|---------------|-------------|----------|---------|----------|----------|---|
| 1. NS_SUCCESS | Pearson's r | _ | | | | |
| | p-value | | | | | |
| 2. NS_NSEXP | Pearson's r | 0.390** | | | | |
| | p-value | 0.003 | | | | |
| 3. NS_TRUST | Pearson's r | 0.732*** | 0.310* | — | | |
| | p-value | < .001 | 0.019 | — | | |
| 4. NS_KNOWT | Pearson's r | 0.746*** | 0.376** | 0.709*** | | |
| | p-value | < .001 | 0.004 | < .001 | | |
| 5. NS_LIAISO | Pearson's r | 0.805*** | 0.398** | 0.787*** | 0.719*** | |
| | p-value | < .001 | 0.002 | < .001 | < .001 | |

* p < .05, ** p < .01, *** p < .001

Table 17: Pearson's Correlations for supplier-side

6.5. Hypotheses testing

We conducted both single and multiple linear regression analyses with *Nearshoring expertise*, Trust, *Knowledge transfer*, and *Liaison quality* as independent variables and *Nearshoring project success* as the dependent variable. In *paragraph 3.2.*, we created two models to predict the success of nearshore projects based on *Nearshoring expertise*, *Trust*, *Project suitability*, *Knowledge transfer*, and *Liaison quality*. Due to unreliability, the dimension *Project suitability* is removed. In this regard, we developed a multiple linear regression model with Nearshore project success as the outcome and the aforementioned variables as predictors. Primarily, the entire sample is analyzed and a key model is constructed. This is followed by two distinct analyses, one from the buyer's perspective and one from the supplier's perspective.

6.5.1. Full sample analysis

The main research model that is developed is displayed in *Figure 19*. This model depicts all of the dimensions' correlating values. The beta (β) value, denoted by a number between 0 and 1, is used to quantify the effect sizes between dimensions. The p-value (probability) is indicated with 0 and 3 stars right after the beta (β) value.



Figure 19: Resulting research model (full data sample)

The resulting model significantly [F(4, 87) = 51.04, p < .001] predicted and explained 68.7% (Adj R²= 0.687) of the variance in the outcome variable. For all details of the model see *Appendix I*. Investigation of the coefficients yielded the following results:

- Intercept has a significant and positive (β = 0.906, p = 0.016) relationship with *Nearshore project success*.
- Trust has a significant and positive (β = 0.191, p = 0.033) relationship with Nearshore project success.
- Knowledge transfer has a significant and positive (β = 0.372, p < .001) relationship with Nearshore project success.
- Liaison quality has a significant and positive (β = 0.338, p < .001) relationship with Nearshore project success.

However, *Nearshoring expertise* was not found to have a significant relationship with *Nearshore project success*. Investigation of the standardized coefficient betas indicates that *Knowledge transfer*

(std β = 0.359) has a stronger effect on the model than *Liaison quality* (std β = 0.355) and *Trust* (std β = 0.203). For more information see *Table 18*.

| | Unstandardized β | Standard Error | Standardized β | t | р |
|-----------|---------------------|-------------------|-------------------|-------|--------|
| Intercept | 0.906 | 0.367 | | 2.468 | 0.016 |
| NSEXP | 0.041 | 0.044 | 0.060 | 0.939 | 0.350 |
| TRUST | 0.191 | 0.088 | 0.203 | 2.170 | 0.033 |
| KNOWT | 0.372 | 0.087 | 0.359 | 4.280 | < .001 |
| LIAISO | 0.338 | 0.087 | 0.355 | 3.877 | < .001 |

The regression equation is $\hat{Y} = 0.906 + (0.191*Trust) + (0.372*Knowledge transfer) + (0.338*Liaison quality)$

 Table 18: Coefficients for Multiple Linear Regression on Nearshore project success (Full sample)

Subsequently, we created two more multiple linear regression models to test hypotheses between Nearshoring expertise, Trust, Knowledge transfer and Liaison quality. Results on *Knowledge transfer* are presented in *Table 19* and results on *Liaison quality* in *Table 20*.

The first resulting model significantly [F(89, 2) = 41.396, p < .001] predicted and explained 47.0% (Adj R²= 0.470) of the variance in the outcome variable. For all details of the model see *Appendix I*. Investigation of the coefficients yielded the following results:

- Intercept has a significant and positive ($\beta = 1.440$, p = .001) relationship with *Knowledge transfer*.
- *Nearshoring expertise* has a significant and positive ($\beta = 0.142$, p = .008) relationship with *Knowledge transfer*.
- *Trust* has a significant and positive (β = 0.554, p < .001) relationship with *Knowledge transfer*.

Investigation of the standardized coefficient betas indicates that *Trust* (std β = 0.609) has a stronger effect on the model than *Nearshoring expertise* (std β = 0.213). For more information see *Table 19*.

| | Unstandardized β | Standard Error | Standardized β | t | р |
|-----------|---------------------|-------------------|-------------------|-------|--------|
| Intercept | 1.440 | 0.425 | | 3.386 | 0.001 |
| NSEXP | 0.142 | 0.052 | 0.213 | 2.702 | 0.008 |
| TRUST | 0.554 | 0.072 | 0.609 | 7.717 | < .001 |

The regression equation is $\hat{Y} = 1.440 + (0.142*Nearshoring expertise) + (0.554*Trust)$

Table 19: Coefficients for Multiple Linear Regression on Knowledge Transfer (full sample)

The second resulting model significantly [F(2, 89) = 57.792, p < .001] predicted and explained 55.5% (Adj R²= 0.555) of the variance in the outcome variable. For all details of the model see *Appendix I*. Investigation of the coefficients yielded the following results:

- Intercept has a significant and positive ($\beta = 1.229$, p = .005) relationship with *Liaison quality*.
- *Nearshoring expertise* has a significant and positive ($\beta = 0.119$, p = .026) relationship with *Liaison quality.*
- *Trust* has a significant and positive ($\beta = 0.686$, p < .001) relationship with *Liaison quality*.

Investigation of the standardized coefficient betas indicates that *Trust* (std β = 0.693) has a stronger effect on the model than *Nearshoring expertise* (std β = 0.164). For more information see *Table 20*.

| | Unstandardized β | Standard Error | Standardized β | t | р |
|-----------|---------------------|-------------------|-------------------|-------|--------|
| Intercept | 1.229 | 0.424 | | 2.900 | 0.005 |
| NSEXP | 0.119 | 0.052 | 0.164 | 2.271 | 0.026 |
| TRUST | 0.686 | 0.072 | 0.693 | 9.587 | < .001 |

The regression equation is $\hat{Y} = 1.229 + (0.119*Nearshoring expertise) + (0.686*Trust)$

 Table 20: Coefficients for Multiple Linear Regression on Liaison quality (full sample)

Additionally, we created a single linear regression model to test the effect of *Nearshoring expertise* on *Trust*. The resulting model significantly [F(1, 90) = 6.213, p < 0.015] predicted and explained 5.4% (Adj R²= 0.054) of the variance in the outcome variable. For all details of the model see *Appendix I*. Investigation of the coefficients yielded the following results:

- Intercept has a significant and positive ($\beta = 4.596$, p = < .001) relationship with *Trust*.
- Nearshoring expertise has a significant and positive (β = 0.186, p < 0.015) relationship with *Trust in on-site staff*.

The regression equation is $\hat{Y} = 4.596 + (0.186*Trust)$

| | Unstandardized β | Standard Error | Standardized β | t | р |
|-----------|---------------------|-------------------|-------------------|--------|--------|
| Intercept | 4.596 | 0.394 | | 11.671 | < .001 |
| NSEXP | 0.186 | 0.074 | 0.254 | 2.493 | 0.015 |

 Table 21: Coefficients for Single Linear Regression on Trust (full sample)

6.5.2. Buyer perspective analysis

The second research model that is developed is displayed in *Figure 20*. This model depicts all of the dimensions' correlating values from a buyer perspective. The beta (β) value, denoted by a number between 0 and 1, is used to quantify the effect sizes between dimensions. The p-value (probability) is indicated with 0 and 3 stars right after the beta (β) value.



Figure 20: Resulting research model (buyer perspective)

The resulting model significantly [F(4, 30) = 16.97, p < .001] predicted and explained 65.3% (Adj R²= 0.653) of the variance in the outcome variable. For all details of the model see *Appendix J*. Investigation of the coefficients yielded the following results:

 Knowledge transfer has a significant and positive (β = 0.436, p = 0.007) relationship with Nearshore project success.

However, *Trust, Liaison quality* and *Nearshoring expertise* were not found to have a significant relationship with *Nearshore project success*. For more information see *Table 22*.

| | Unstandardized β | Standard Error | Standardized β | t | р |
|-----------------|---------------------|-------------------|-------------------|-------|-------|
| Intercept | 0.900 | 0.632 | | 1.424 | 0.165 |
| OS_NSEXP | 0.040 | 0.081 | 0.058 | 0.500 | 0.620 |
| OS_TRUST | 0.223 | 0.132 | 0.250 | 1.690 | 0.101 |
| OS_KNOWT | 0.436 | 0.149 | 0.414 | 2.922 | 0.007 |
| OS_LIAISO | 0.251 | 0.124 | 0.281 | 2.022 | 0.052 |

The regression equation is $\hat{Y} = 0.436^*$ *Knowledge transfer*

Table 22: Coefficients for Multiple Linear Regression on Nearshore project success (buyer perspective)

These results conclude the following hypotheses to the research model in *Figure 4*:

- H1 is rejected and the null hypothesis retained as *Nearshoring expertise* does not have a significant relationship (β = 0.040, p = 0.620) with *Nearshore project success*.
- **H7** is rejected and the null hypothesis retained as *Trust in NSP* does not have a significant relationship ($\beta = 0.223$, p = 0.101) with *Nearshore project success*.
- **H8** is rejected and the null hypothesis retained as *Nearshore project suitability* has been dropped due to unreliability.
- **H9** is accepted and the null hypothesis is rejected as the *Knowledge tran*sfer has a significant and positive ($\beta = 0.436$, p = 0.007) relationship with *Nearshore project success*.
- **H10** is rejected and the null hypothesis retained as *Liaison quality* does not have a significant relationship ($\beta = 0.251$, p = 0.052) with *Nearshore project success*.

Subsequently, we created two more multiple linear regression models to test hypotheses between *Nearshoring expertise, Trust in on-site staff, Knowledge transfer* and *Liaison quality*. Results on Knowledge transfer are presented in *Table 23* and results on Liaison quality in *Table 24*.

The first resulting model significantly [F(2, 32) = 14.795, p < .001] predicted and explained 44.8% (Adj R²= 0.448) of the variance in the outcome variable. For all details of the model see *Appendix J*. Investigation of the coefficients yielded the following results:

- Intercept has a significant and positive (β = 1.903, p = .006) relationship with *Knowledge* transfer.
- *Nearshoring expertise* has a significant and positive ($\beta = 0.243$, p = .008) relationship with *Knowledge transfer*.
- Trust in NSP has a significant and positive (β = 0.429, p < .001) relationship with Knowledge transfer.

Investigation of the standardized coefficient betas indicates that *Trust in NSP* (std β = 0.506) has a stronger effect on the model than *Nearshoring expertise* (std β = 0.369). For more information see *Table 23*.

The regression equation is $\hat{Y} = 1.903 + (0.243*Nearshoring expertise) + (0.429*Trust in NSP)$

| | Unstandardized β | Standard Error | Standardized β | t | р |
|-----------|---------------------|-------------------|-------------------|-------|--------|
| Intercept | 1.903 | 0.652 | | 2.921 | 0.006 |
| OS_NSEXP | 0.243 | 0.086 | 0.369 | 2.810 | 0.008 |
| OS_TRUST | 0.429 | 0.111 | 0.506 | 3.853 | < .001 |

Table 23: Coefficients for Multiple Linear Regression on Knowledge Transfer (buyer perspective)

The second resulting model significantly [F(2, 32) = 13.628, p < .001] predicted and explained 42.6% (Adj R²= 0.426) of the variance in the outcome variable. For all details of the model see *Appendix J*. Investigation of the coefficients yielded the following results:

• Trust in NSP has a significant and positive (β = 0.632, p < .001) relationship with Liaison quality.

The relationship between *Nearshoring expertise* and *Liaison quality* is not significant (β = 0.106, p = 0.313). For more information see *Table 24*.

The regression equation is $\hat{Y} = 0.632^*$ *Trust in NSP*

| | Unstandardized β | Standard Error | Standardized β | t | р |
|-----------------|---------------------|-------------------|-------------------|-------|--------|
| Intercept | 1.598 | 0.783 | | 2.041 | 0.050 |
| OS_NSEXP | 0.106 | 0.104 | 0.137 | 1.026 | 0.313 |
| OS_TRUST | 0.632 | 0.134 | 0.632 | 4.727 | < .001 |

Table 24: Coefficients for Multiple Linear Regression on Liaison quality (buyer perspective)

These results conclude the following hypotheses to the research model in *Figure 4*:

H2 is rejected and the null hypothesis retained as *Nearshore project suitability* has been dropped due to unreliability.

H3 is accepted and the null hypothesis is rejected as *Nearshoring expertise* has a significant and positive ($\beta = 0.243$, p = .008) relationship with *Knowledge transfer*.

H4 is rejected and the null hypothesis retained as *Nearshoring expertise* does not have a significant relationship ($\beta = 0.106$, p = 0.313) with *Liaison quality*.

H5 is accepted and the null hypothesis is rejected as the *Trust in on-site staff* has a significant and positive ($\beta = 0.429$, p < .001) relationship with *Knowledge transfer*.

H6 is accepted and the null hypothesis is rejected as the *Trust in on-site staff* has a significant and positive ($\beta = 0.632$, p < .001) relationship with *Liaison quality*.

Additionally, we created a single linear regression model to test the effect of *Nearshoring expertise* on *Trust in NSP*. The results are presented in *Table 25*. Investigation of the coefficients yielded the following results:

• Intercept has a significant and positive (β = 4.777, p = < .001) relationship with *Trust in NSP*.

The results also indicate that the relationship between *Nearshoring expertise* and *Trust in NSP* is not significant ($\beta = 0.308$, p = 0.168). For all details of the model see *Appendix J*.

| | Unstandardized β | Standard Error | Standardized β | t | р |
|-----------|---------------------|-------------------|-------------------|-------|--------|
| Intercept | 4.777 | 0.588 | | 8.120 | < .001 |
| OS_NSEXP | 0.185 | 0.131 | 0.239 | 1.411 | 0.168 |

The regression equation is $\hat{Y} = 4.777$

Table 25: Coefficients for Single Linear Regression on Trust in NSP (buyer perspective)

6.5.3. Supplier perspective analysis

The final research model that is developed is displayed in *Figure 21*. This model depicts all of the dimensions' correlating values from a supplier perspective. The beta (β) value, denoted by a number between 0 and 1, is used to quantify the effect sizes between dimensions. The p-value (probability) is indicated with 0 and 3 stars right after the beta (β) value.



Figure 21: Resulting research model (supplier perspective)

The resulting model significantly [F(4, 52) = 32.59, p < .001] predicted and explained 69.3% (Adj R²= 0.693) of the variance in the outcome variable. For all details of the model see *Appendix K*. Investigation of the coefficients yielded the following results:

- *Knowledge transfer* has a significant and positive ($\beta = 0.301$, p = 0.013) relationship with *Nearshore project success*.
- *Liaison quality* has a significant and positive ($\beta = 0.454$, p = 0.001) relationship with *Nearshore project success*.

However, *Trust* and *Nearshoring expertise* were not found to have a significant relationship with *Nearshore project success*. Investigation of the standardized coefficient betas indicates that Liaison quality (std β = 0.457) has a stronger effect on the model than *Knowledge transfer* (std β = 0.293). For more information see *Table 26*.

| | Unstandardized β | Standard Error | Standardized β | t | р |
|-----------|---------------------|-------------------|-------------------|-------|-------|
| Intercept | 0.863 | 0.477 | | 1.807 | 0.076 |
| NS_NSEXP | 0.040 | 0.064 | 0.052 | 0.634 | 0.529 |
| NS_TRUST | 0.145 | 0.124 | 0.149 | 1.165 | 0.249 |
| NS_KNOWT | 0.301 | 0.118 | 0.293 | 2.560 | 0.013 |
| NS_LIAISO | 0.454 | 0.131 | 0.457 | 3.463 | 0.001 |

The regression equation is $\hat{Y} = (0.301*Knowledge transfer) + (0.454*Liaison quality)$

 Table 26: Coefficients for Multiple Linear Regression on Nearshore project success (supplier perspective)

These results conclude the following hypotheses to the research model in *Figure 4*:

- **H11** is rejected and the null hypothesis retained as *Nearshoring expertise* does not have a significant relationship ($\beta = 0.040$, p = 0.529) with *Nearshore project success*.
- **H17** is rejected and the null hypothesis retained as *Trust in On-site staff* does not have a significant relationship ($\beta = 0.145$, p = 0.249) with *Nearshore project success*.
- **H18** is rejected and the null hypothesis retained as *Nearshore project suitability* has been dropped due to unreliability.

- **H19** is accepted and the null hypothesis is rejected as the *Knowledge tran*sfer has a significant and positive (β = 0.301, p = 0.013) relationship with *Nearshore project success*.
- **H20** is accepted and the null hypothesis is rejected as the *Liaison quality* has a significant and positive ($\beta = 0.454$, p = 0.001) relationship with the *Nearshore project success*.

Subsequently, we created two more multiple linear regression models to test hypotheses between *Nearshoring expertise, Trust in on-site staff, Knowledge transfer* and *Liaison quality*. Results on *Knowledge transfer* are presented in *Table 27* and results on *Liaison quality* in *Table 28*.

The first resulting model significantly [F(2, 54) = 30.412, p < .001] predicted and explained 51.2% (Adj R²= 0.512) of the variance in the outcome variable. For all details of the model see *Appendix K*. Investigation of the coefficients yielded the following results:

 Trust in on-site staff has a significant and positive (β = 0.623, p < .001) relationship with Knowledge transfer.

The relationship between *Nearshoring expertise* and *Knowledge transfer* is not significant ($\beta = 0.131$, p = 0.084). For more information see *Table 27*.

| | Unstandardized β | Standard Error | Standardized β | t | р |
|-----------|---------------------|-------------------|-------------------|-------|--------|
| Intercept | 1.007 | 0.560 | | 1.799 | 0.078 |
| NS_NSEXP | 0.131 | 0.074 | 0.173 | 0.758 | 0.084 |
| NS_TRUST | 0.623 | 0.093 | 0.656 | 6.679 | < .001 |

 Table 27: Coefficients for Multiple Linear Regression on Knowledge Transfer (supplier perspective)

The second resulting model significantly [F(2, 54) = 49.292, p < 0.001] predicted and explained 63.3% (Adj R²= 0.633) of the variance in the outcome variable. For all details of the model see *Appendix K*. Investigation of the coefficients yielded the following results:

• Trust in on-site staff has a significant and positive ($\beta = 0.721$, p < .001) relationship with Liaison quality.

The relationship between *Nearshoring expertise* and *Liaison quality* is not significant (β = 0.134, p = 0.050). For more information see *Table 28*.

| | Unstandardized β | Standard Error | Standardized β | t | р |
|-----------|---------------------|-------------------|-------------------|-------|--------|
| Intercept | 0.942 | 0.502 | | 1.877 | 0.066 |
| NS_NSEXP | 0.134 | 0.067 | 0.171 | 2.004 | 0.050 |
| NS_TRUST | 0.721 | 0.084 | 0.734 | 8.624 | < .001 |

The regression equation is $\hat{Y} = 0.721^*$ *Trust in NSP*

Table 28: Coefficients for Multiple Linear Regression on Liaison quality (supplier perspective)

These results conclude the following hypotheses to the research model in *Figure 4*: **H12** is rejected and the null hypothesis retained as *Nearshore project suitability* has been dropped due to unreliability.

H13 is rejected and the null hypothesis retained as *Nearshoring expertise* does not have a significant relationship ($\beta = 0.131$, p = 0.084) with *Knowledge transfer*.

H14 is rejected and the null hypothesis retained as *Nearshoring expertise* does not have a significant relationship (β = 0.134, p = 0.050) with *Liaison quality*.

H15 is accepted and the null hypothesis is rejected as the *Trust in on-site staff* has a significant and positive ($\beta = 0.623$, p < .001) relationship with *Knowledge transfer*.

H16 is accepted and the null hypothesis is rejected as the *Trust in on-site staff* has a significant and positive ($\beta = 0.721$, p < .001) relationship with *Liaison quality*.

Additionally, we created a single linear regression model to test the effect of *Nearshoring expertise* on *Trust in on-site staff*. The results are presented in *Table 29*. The resulting model significantly [F(1, 55) = 5.850, p < 0.019] predicted and explained 8.0% (Adj R²= 0.080) of the variance in the outcome variable. For all details of the model see *Appendix K*. Investigation of the coefficients yielded the following results:

- Intercept has a significant and positive (β = 4.144, p = < .001) relationship with *Trust in on*site staff.
- Nearshoring expertise has a significant and positive (β = 0.248, p < 0.019) relationship with *Trust in on-site staff*.

| | Unstandardized β | Standard Error | Standardized β | t | р |
|-----------|---------------------|-------------------|-------------------|-------|--------|
| Intercept | 4.144 | 0.586 | | 7.068 | < .001 |
| NS_NSEXP | 0.248 | 0.102 | 0.310 | 2.419 | 0.019 |

The regression equation is $\hat{Y} = 4.144 + (0.248*Trust in on-site staff)$

 Table 29: Coefficients for Single Linear Regression on Trust in on-site staff (supplier perspective)

7. Discussion

As part of this discussion chapter, the research question posed in the first chapter of this study will be revisited and answered. The subparagraphs of the discussion chapter will highlight the key findings that contribute to the main research question. The research question that served as the starting point of this research is:

What are dimensions that have an impact on the success of nearshoring projects?

The analysis identifies *Trust, Knowledge Transfer,* and *Liaison quality* as critical success criteria for nearshoring projects. As described in *paragraph 6.5.1.*, this might forecast around 65 percent of the success of nearshore projects. This could lead to greater success, particularly when *Trust* is mediated through *Knowledge transfer* and *Liaison quality*. *Trust* by itself has a limited influence, as it is not very actionable. This variable was examined using five indicators: decision-making, assistance, prespecified support, honesty, and caring. One could argue that this has a stronger impact on the success of nearshoring projects if it is mediated through knowledge exchange. Also, if *Trust* is mediated through open communication, cultural understanding, equality, and close working relationships, the nearshore project's success is increased. Lastly, *Nearshoring expertise* only has a small indirect effect on *Nearshore project success*. This small effect is mediated through *Knowledge transfer* and *Trust*.

7.1. Trust is crucial to the success of nearshore projects

The resulting research models in *paragraph 6.4.* show that trust is a critical factor in the success of nearshore projects. The effect sizes are medium to large when mediated by knowledge transfer (β = 0.55) and liaison quality (β = 0.69), and there is also a small direct effect on success.

According to Westner's (2010) research model, the dimension *Trust* has a significant, but slightly smaller, impact on the success of offshore projects via knowledge transfer ($\beta = 0.38$) and liaison *quality* (β = 0.59). *Trust* has a slight direct effect (β = 0.19 & β = 0.29) on the success of near-/offshore projects in all cases. The data in *Figure 18* suggests that the strongest components of trust are good decision-making and honesty. Our data indicates that this should be the foundation of trust in a nearshoring arrangement. Also providing assistance without exception, providing pre-specified support and caring for each other are important components of trust, as indicated in Figure 18. According to Park and Kim (2011), higher levels of trust appear to positively influence the connection between buyer and provider. Recent empirical-confirmatory research indicates that trust is positively associated to the extent of information sharing and that trust, as mediated by cooperative learning, has a significant positive influence on knowledge transfer (Park, Im, & Kim, 2011). Welter and Alex (2011) researched trust in different cultures and they conclude that trust building is facilitated in situations where individuals can draw on collective identities, such as in national symbols and common languages. They also say that trust is built through familiarity with one's another mentality and habits. Western 'identities', in the sense of familiar behavior facilitate the emergence of trust respectively these are requirements for trust to emerge (Welter & Alex, 2011). In an offshore context the cultural distance is larger compared to the cultural distance in a nearshore context, because there are more default similarities in a nearshore cultural context. This explains why it could lead to more success in nearshoring projects.

A great deal has been written about the significance of trust in outsourcing relationships, but we could not find any literature on trust in nearshoring arrangements. Lee and Choi (2011) have

developed a theoretical model of the effects of initial and ongoing trust on outsourcing advantages from the service provider's and service recipient's points of view. The significance of ongoing trust and distrust in assessing the effectiveness of IT outsourcing projects cannot be underestimated. It is essential for success to create an environment that supports sustained positive belief. One approach to achieve this is to establish suitable positive expectations from the beginning of the outsourcing partnership by increasing initial trust and decreasing initial distrust (Lee & Choi, 2011).

The direct effect can be explained by the fact that trust between on-site (buyer-side) and nearshore (supplier-side) employees must grow, which is difficult without any assistance, such as knowledge sharing or collaboration. It has been demonstrated that trust strengthens both communication and relationships among stakeholders, which can often improve project performance (Wu, Liu, Zhao, & Zuo, 2017). This also explains why *trust*, as mediated by *knowledge transfer* and *liaison quality*, has a stronger impact on nearshore project success. When you have more trust in each other, you are more willing to share knowledge and work toward the same goals. Khesal et al. (2013) investigated the impact of trust on knowledge sharing and discovered that knowledge sharing among teams is crucial. Individuals are often afraid of passing on knowledge to others because they fear losing their position within the company. For most knowledge-related processes, such as providing transparent knowledge or utilizing and sharing it, trust is critical. Many people are hesitant to take the risk of sharing knowledge with someone they have no reason to trust.

7.2. Knowledge transfer and liaison are second most important to success

The resulting research models in *paragraph 6.4.* show that *Knowledge transfer* and *liaison quality* also play a major role in the success of nearshoring projects. After trust, they are the most important factors. The effect sizes are small to medium ($\beta = 0.37 \& 0.34$) towards nearshore project success and have a great impact originated by trust.

Compared to the offshore findings of Westner's (2010) study, our data indicates that these two factors have a significantly greater impact on nearshore project success. For the *liaison quality*, this could be due to cultural distances. In offshore arrangements, the distance is larger, so it's more difficult to maintain a good *liaison quality* in comparison to a nearshore arrangement. One could argue that the stronger effect of knowledge transfer is due to a higher level of trust in nearshoring arrangements, as explained in the previous paragraph. One could imagine that they are higher because of shorter cultural distances and similar rules and regulations (within the European Union).

These two factors are essential to project success because the more knowledge you transfer, the more transparency you will have over the project. When the supplier engages in collaborative activities, trust works as a signal that the recipient firm will not engage in opportunistic misuse of knowledge. For example, if the buyer allows suppliers to allow access to their systems and data, they must be convinced that any learning is connected to the original agreement and not targeted at acquiring capabilities that underpin their competitive advantage. Firms may still engage in such activities in the absence of confidence, but they will aim to minimize the transparency of essential processes and products, hence lowering information transmission (Squire, Cousins, & Brown, 2009). One could imagine that a lack of transparency can lead to increased risks, complications, longer adaptation times, etc. As you can see in *Figure 18*, "technology/process know-how" is crucial to nearly 95% of the most successful nearshoring project from our data and this is only about the type of work that is being transitioned.

While *knowledge transfer* and *liaison quality* have a minor to moderate effect ($\beta = 0.37 \& 0.34$) on nearshore project success, when they are considered separately, an interesting difference becomes apparent. From the buyer's perspective, *knowledge transfer* ($\beta = 0.44$) has a greater impact on success, while from the supplier's perspective, *liaison quality* ($\beta = 0.45$) has a greater impact on success. This means that the more effectively and efficiently the buyer-side transfers project-related technology/process knowledge to the supplier-side, the higher the project's success rate can be. One could imagine that if the buyer shares more knowledge with the supplier, such as technology or processes, the supplier will be able to align support in a more successful arrangement. On the other hand, the supplier-side places a premium on *liaison quality*; the more effectively they collaborate with the buyer-side, the higher the project's success rate can be.

7.3. Nearshoring expertise plays a minor role to success

Our data indicates that experience is no defining factor in providing success in nearshoring arrangements. As seen in our resulting research models in *paragraph 6.4.*, the dimension *nearshoring expertise* has no direct effect ($\beta = 0.04$) on the success of nearshoring projects.

Nearshoring expertise can help build trust on one side, but in the end trust is the most important factor. The impact of *nearshoring expertise* is small ($\beta = 0.19$) when mediated by *trust*. One could imagine that if you can demonstrate prior experience with nearshore arrangements or if the buyer-side organization already has dedicated processes and structures to manage these arrangements, you may be able to gain more trust throughout a project, which could lead to greater success.

The findings for this dimension in our models are quite consistent with those of Westner's previous study (2010). Additionally, in his model (see *figure 3*), there is no effect (β = 0.04) of the dimension *offshoring expertise*, implying that project success is directly unaffected from both a nearshore and an offshore perspective. Studies show that project managers from different national cultures often lead similar projects in a completely different way (Zwikael, Shimizu, & Globerson, 2005). Every organization operates differently, so the execution of nearshore projects differs between organizations as well. Even if the main steps of a nearshoring project are similar, the approach on "how" to do it differs significantly. Nearshoring projects do not require standard processes, structures, or experiences to be successful, and in most situations, these aspects are not even present during transitions. It relies on how the company operates. As seen in *Figure 16*, approximately 20 to 30 percent of respondents disagree with the Nearshoring expertise statement and these projects still lead to success. Current research shows that a one-size-fits-all governance approach for outsourcing projects is not appropriate and a differentiation of outsourcing clients is necessary (Leimeister, 2009).

When we compare the buyer to the supplier perspective, we find that there is a small effect (β = 0.24) on knowledge transfer from the buyer's perspective. This is due to the fact that if the buyer has a clear description of the nearshoring project's end goal and the tasks that must be completed in order to reach that end goal, the project may be more successful. There is a minimal impact because this situation does not involve applying prior knowledge of nearshoring arrangements ("how" to achieve the desired result). As stated in the previous paragraph, this is undesirable. Additionally, if the on-site location possesses some nearshoring expertise prior to the start of the project, this will contribute to the success of the project. This makes perfect sense, because if the on-site location has some knowledge of nearshoring in terms of experience, projects, and processes for nearshore

arrangements, this can result in a more seamless collaboration between the buyer and supplier sides, as well as better results that contribute to increased success throughout these projects. Also, if the buyer-side has prior nearshoring experience, they can avoid errors made in the past and know what to observe and avoid during the following project(s).

The influence of best practices (expertise in nearshoring) between cultures is minimal to nonexistent because other cultures respond differently to how to execute such a project. Leaders often assume that if a practice was successful in one location, it will also be successful in another, and they wish to reap the benefits of sharing common practices across locations. However, they do not always succeed. Best practices are optimized for a particular place and time and don't necessarily transfer well between cultures (Hinds, 2016). The *nearshoring expertise* dimension describes the strategic side, but if you focus on the operational tasks and the end goal of a project, different cultures will find their best way to achieve it.

7.4. Unreliability of the project suitability dimension

We chose to exclude the dimension "project suitability" for the remainder of the analysis. In *paragraph 6.3.*, we examined the reliability of all six dimensions and discovered that the dimension "project suitability" had a low reliability score ($\alpha = 0.21$) across the entire dataset as well as the buyer and supplier perspective datasets. This dimension even had a negative alpha score ($\alpha = -0.40$) from the buyer's perspective, indicating extremely low reliability.

Westner's (2010) study used a research survey on offshore project success to quantitatively test this dimension and its indicators. While this dimension and their statements are well-developed in Westner's (2008) qualitative study on the factors that influence a project's suitability for offshoring, this study may indicate that this dimension only accounts for instances of offshoring, as he used this dimension to determine success factors for offshore projects in his study.

As illustrated in the resulting models in *paragraph 6.4.*, the effects from and to the dimension "project suitability" are intentionally left blank due to the dimension's unreliability. If we examine the indicators for this dimension more closely (see *Appendix A*), we may conclude that project effort, duration, English operating language, documentation, and business-specific know-how of staff members all have little to no effect on the success of nearshoring projects. The suitability of a project largely depends on the cultural context of a project, e.g. in South and Latin American countries hierarchy is more important than in The United States (Meyer, 2017). Therefore, this could be a reason why this dimension is not so reliable for measuring success.

7.5. 2021 could indicate a push towards nearshoring

Businesses are reorganizing their operations in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Attracting talent has become easier as a result of the shift toward remote work. Numerous firms began relocating operations to nearshore locations. Although our data is limited, it shows in *Figure 9* that these projects started increasing rapidly during the COVID-19 pandemic. While some firms choose to maintain it in-house and establish a Shared Services Center (SSC) at a less expensive location, others prefer to outsource the work (see *Table 7*). These choices assist them in increasing their performance while also lowering costs. Nearshoring has gained popularity in recent years. According to a Deloitte Global Outsourcing Survey (2020), 87% of IT organizations considered nearshore outsourcing as a cost-cutting measure. This may explain why experts forecast that the worldwide

outsourcing market would expand by \$40.16 billion by 2025 (Global Business Process Outsourcing Market 2021-2025, 2020).

7.6. Practical implications & Recommendations

First and foremost, assuming that organizations are open to nearshore arrangements, there must be a very clear strategy for building trust in global buyer and supplier relationships. Research by Ajmal et al. (2017) studied trust in offshore software outsourcing relationships and they put a high value on cultural understanding, credibility, capabilities, pilot project performance and investments for establishing trust. On the other hand in maintaining and strengthening trust in offshore software outsourcing relationships trust in offshore software outsourcing, cultural understanding, capabilities contract conformance, quality, timely delivery, development process, managing expectations, personal relationships and performance are the most important factors (Ajmal, Helo, & Kassem, 2017). One could imagine that these factors also account for nearshore arrangements. As described in the preceding paragraphs of this chapter, the results indicate that trust is closely associated with nearshore project success. The greater the level of trust established between locations prior to and during a project, the higher the success rate of the nearshoring project. By success, we refer to the quality of the project plan/time schedule, project budget, project functionality, project quality, and the final outcome of the nearshore arrangement. In addition, we recommend that the most effective means of establishing trust are knowledge sharing and close cooperation between locations.

Furthermore, we believe that incorporating a clear strategy for fostering knowledge sharing while facilitating a close working relationship will significantly increase project success. A study by Windsor et al. (2010) proposed and tested three categories of core organizational practices that encourage knowledge sharing: strategic, technology and decision making. They also validated these core practices in firms across two distinct national cultures.

The first category, strategic practices, demonstrates that an agile business strategy is strongly associated with knowledge sharing. As indicated in *paragraph 5.2.4.7*, our data also show that Agile Project/Product Management Methods contribute to more successful nearshoring projects. Organizations use an agile strategy to change their business processes in response to consumer needs, thus it is critical to share knowledge about what is done (Windsor, Ryan, & Prybutok, 2010).

The second category is technology practices. The choice of agile collaborative technology tools is significantly related to knowledge sharing. Having the same intranets, extranets, workgroup technologies, and knowledge repositories encourages simultaneous working, the exchange of ideas and expertise, and the potential access to knowledge sources and best practices. Data quality management practices are also vital for improved knowledge sharing. Structured approaches to data management demonstrate that well-established policies for data creation, modification, and access enable knowledge workers access and share knowledge. Data that is inconsistent, out of date, or difficult to obtain is not easily shared or used. Knowledge workers who can rely on the accuracy and quality of data are more likely to synthesize and share it with others (Windsor, Ryan, & Prybutok, 2010).

The third category, decision making, consists of the practice of having well-articulated decision procedures. Well-articulated decision procedures can inform employees regarding the relationship between their activities and organizational goals and objectives. By clearly understanding requirements and the rationale for such requirements, knowledge workers are more likely to act in a

consistent manner and collaborate with others to ensure that the goals and objectives are accomplished (Windsor, Ryan, & Prybutok, 2010).

7.7. Limitations & Threats to validity

We will now discuss the major limitations and threats to the validity of the research. A small sample size bias may exist as a result of the collection and analysis of a small sample. The total sample size was 92 responses when both supplier- and buyer-side responses are included. With only 35 respondents, the buyer-side response group can be considered to be relatively small. This also limits the generalizability of the discoveries for this target group.

We estimate that 20 to 25 percent of the responses from this target group originates from Aegon GTS, because we utilized their internal network for gathering responses. This estimate is based on a comparison between the operational locations of Aegon (the United States, the United Kingdom, Hungary, and the Netherlands) to the on-site and nearshore locations of respondents. Since this group is comprised of employees from the same company, there may be some bias.

Another limitation of this research is that the majority of responses from the survey relate to European on-site and nearshore countries, which could indicate a bias. Asian nearshoring situations are barely registered and about 15-20% of nearshoring situations is registered in North and South America.

According to the survey results, there is a greater bias toward third party relationships (outsourcing). Comparing the "In-house (captive)" sourcing type to the "third party (outsourcing)" sourcing type, *Table 7* reveals that 63 percent of responses are from third party (outsourcing) relationships. This could influence the statement's results differently than a 50-50 sourcing type weight or if only one of the two types was utilized.

For the survey's purposes, mainly numerical and Likert Scale questions were utilized. Although this method has a number of benefits, such as the ability to collect quantitative data for statistical analysis and the fact that all respondents are asked the same questions, it also has a number of disadvantages. Since there is no way to determine whether or not respondents read the introduction and definitions of terms before each question, dishonest or even careless responses are possible. Some of the questions or terms posed to respondents may be challenging to comprehend. Everyone's perspective is skewed if the questionnaire is not fully explained.

Lastly, for this study, we attempted to discover as many papers as possible on nearshoring as opposed to offshoring. However, due to the fact that this is an emerging topic, there has not been a great deal of research on nearshoring alone. Thus, we based a significant portion of our literature review on offshoring where nearshore locations are included in the definition of offshoring, as well as on offshoring literature alone.

8. Conclusion

This chapter will conclude the study by describing the research question and purpose, explaining the key findings, and concluding with a statement. In the final paragraph, several suggestions for future research are provided.

8.1. Conclusion

The purpose of this study is to investigate five variables that influence the success of nearshoring projects and to determine which of these variables has the greatest impact. A quantitative (deductive) survey was conducted to map the various effects of these variables' various strengths. The main research question for this study was: 'What are dimensions that have an impact on the success of nearshoring projects?'. With the support of a survey, 92 individuals provided a valuable set of information. Participants were selected mostly through private channels, such as LinkedIn direct messaging, and through the publication of a weekly post in seven LinkedIn Groups containing a banner with a link to the survey.

Based on our research question, we believe that Trust is critical to the success of nearshore projects. The transfer of knowledge and the liaison quality between on-site and nearshore staff also has a significant impact on success. On the other hand, nearshoring expertise has little to no effect on these arrangements and measuring the success of a nearshore project based on a project's suitability is unreliable. Lastly, the data suggests that the COVID-19 pandemic may signal an increase in nearshoring projects worldwide.

The overall conclusion of this study is that if you place a high value on Trust, share project-related technology/process knowledge between locations, and collaborate closely, you will be able to achieve greater success with your nearshore transition projects.

8.2. Further research

As stated previously, the sample size for this study is 92 responses from a global audience. With only 35 buyer respondents, this may be considered a small sample size, so we recommend, for future research, to target a larger audience, particularly for global research studies. By limiting the generalizability of the discoveries in this manner, you may be able to create new or different insights.

Another suggestion for future research is to attempt to balance the countries or regions used in the research. This could result in less bias towards a certain country, region or culture. This also accounts for other biases, such as different types of sourcing: In-house (captive) versus third party (outsourcing).

Additionally, qualitative research could be used to examine the success of nearshoring projects in a different manner. This prevents asking the same questions and receiving similar responses, so it could generate new insights by getting open-ended and detailed answers.

Since nearshoring is an increasing trend, it is possible that more research will be conducted in the coming years. By applying these new studies to the topic of nearshore project success, you could obtain more concrete data on the subject.

References

- 2020 Global Outsourcing Survey 2020. (2020). Retrieved from Deloitte: https://www2.deloitte.com/global/en/pages/operations/articles/gx-global-outsourcingsurvey.html
- Abbott, P. (2007, March). What do we know about distance in offshore outsourcing? Retrieved from First Information Systems Workshop on Global Sourcing: Services, Knowledge and Innovation:

https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.565.9184&rep=rep1&type=pdf

- Ajmal, M., Helo, P., & Kassem, R. (2017). *Conceptualizing trust with cultural perspective in international business operations*. doi:10.1108/BIJ-06-2016-0101
- Amiri, F., Overbeek, S., Wagenaar, G., & Stettina, C. J. (2021, July 7). Reconciling agile frameworks with IT sourcing through an IT sourcing dimensions map and structured decision-making. Retrieved from Information Systems and e-Business Management volume 19, pages1113–1142: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10257-021-00534-3
- Annarita Colamatteo, F. C. (2021, October 8). *Near-shoring versus far-shoring: effects on customer perceived quality and purchase intention.* doi:https://doi.org/10.1108/TQM-05-2021-0132
- Aron, R., & Singh, J. V. (2005, December). *Getting Offshoring Right*. Retrieved from Harvard Business Review, 83 (12), 135–143: https://hbr.org/2005/12/getting-offshoring-right
- Balaji, S., & Ahuja, M. (2005, January 6). *Critical Team-Level Success Factors of Offshore Outsourced Projects: A Knowledge Integration Perspective*. doi:10.1109/HICSS.2005.178
- Boersen, H., Gils, W. v., & Zantinge, M. (n.d.). *Nearshore outsourcing is more cost efficient than offshore outsourcing.* Retrieved from http://www.redsalt.com/what-we-do/near-shoring/_capacity-

and experience 3/Article_Nearshore%20 outsourcing%20 is %20 more%20 cost%20 efficient%20 than %20

- Brooks, N. (2006). Understanding it Outsourcing and its Potential Effects on IT workers and their environment. Retrieved from Journal of Computer Information Systems, 46:4, 46-53: https://doi.org/10.1080/08874417.2006.11645913
- Bugajska, M. (2007). *Piloting knowledge transfer in IT/IS outsourcing relationship towards sustainable knowledge transfer process.* Retrieved from Learnings from swiss financial institution. In Proceedings of the 13th Americas Conference on Information Systems.
- Carmel, E., & Abbott, P. (2006, May 28). *Configurations of Global Software Development: Offshore versus Nearshore*. Retrieved from Communications of the ACM: http://seal.ece.ubc.ca/gsd2006/slides/papers/GSD03-Carmel.pdf
- Carmel, E., & Abbott, P. (2007, October). *Why 'nearshore' means that distance matters.* Retrieved from Communications of the ACM Vol. 50, No. 10: http://cs.furman.edu/~chealy/fys1107/PAPERS/nearshore.pdf
- Carmel, E., & Nicholson, B. (2005). *Small firms and offshore software outsourcing: High transaction costs and their migitation*. Retrieved from Journal of Global Information Management, 13 (3), 33–54.
- Cataldo, M., & Nambiar, S. (2009, August 24). On the relationship between process maturity and geographic distribution: an empirical analysis of their impact on software quality. doi:https://doi.org/10.1145/1595696.1595714
- Chow, T., & Cao, D. (2008). A survey study of critical success factors in Agile software projects. Retrieved from Journal of systems and software, Vol. 8, Issue 6. (961-971).

- Christine Koh, S. A., & Straub, D. W. (2004, December). *IT Outsourcing Success: A Psychological Contract Perspective*. Retrieved from Information Systems Research Vol. 15, No. 4, pp. 356-373: http://soonang.com/wp-content/uploads/2011/04/2004-ISR-Koh.pdf
- Chua, A. L., & Pan, S. L. (2006, October 2). *Knowledge transfer and organizational learning in IS* offshore sourcing. Retrieved from Omega, 36 (2), 267–281: https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.1072.8042&rep=rep1&type=pd f
- Chua, A. L., & Pan, S. L. (2008). *Knowledge transfer and organizational learning in IS offshore sourcing.* Retrieved from Omega, 36 (2), 267–281.
- Cohen, L., Manion, L., & Morrison, K. (2000). *Research Methods in Education*. Retrieved from 5th edn. London and New York: Routledge. Chapter 2, 'The ethics of educational and social research'.
- Contractor, F. J., Kumar, V., Kundu, S. K., & Pedersen, T. (2011). *Global Outsourcing and Offshoring: An Integrated Approach to Theory and Corporate Strategy*. New York: Cambridge University Press. Retrieved from http://eprints.stiperdharmawacana.ac.id/150/1/2011%20-%20%28EBOOK%29%20Global%20outsourcing%20and%20offshoring%20-%20Contractor%20Kumar%20The%20Oth.PDF
- Dahlberg, T., & Nyhrinen, M. (2006). A new instrument to measure the success of IT outsourcing. Retrieved from 39th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences: https://d1wqtxts1xzle7.cloudfront.net/46626612/A_New_Instrument_to_Measure_the_Suc cess_20160619-13688-18ulk12-with-cover-pagev2.pdf?Expires=1643716130&Signature=M7iODaq~Ip9TwhSkJmSUtQG8fk0WrwuC8E7NSqto

-~cKyQ5gacyvd1lt0lzlgxL533zYc92N2PBfCWa7~YX5MGhCWzAM-

- Davenport, T. H., & Prusak, L. (1998). *Working knowledge: How organizations manage what they know*. Retrieved from Boston, MA: Harvard Business School Press.
- Day, G. S., & Montgomery, D. B. (1983). *Diagnosing the Experience Curve*. Retrieved from Journal of Marketing Vol. 47, No. 2, pp. 44-58: http://www.jstor.org/stable/1251492
- De Loof, L. (1998). Information Systems and Outsourcing: theories, case evidence and a decision framework. In L. P. Willcocks, & M. C. Lacity, *Strategic sourcing of information systems* (p. 450). Chichester, UK: Wiley.
- Dmitrij Slepniov, S. B. (2013, January 4). *Nearshoring practices: An exploratory study of Scandinavian manufacturers and Lithuanian vendor firms.* doi:https://doi.org/10.1108/17465261311291632
- *Effect of Partnership Quality on IS Outsourcing Success: Conceptual Framework and Empirical Validation.* (1999). doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/07421222.1999.11518221
- Erickson, J. M., & Ranganathan, C. (2006). *Project Management Capabilities: Key to Application Development Offshore.* Retrieved from 39th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences: https://www.computer.org/csdl/proceedingsarticle/hicss/2006/250780199b/12OmNxWuig1
- Evaluation criteria for selecting offshoring candidates: An analysis of practices in German businesses. (2008). Retrieved from Journal of Information Technology Management, 19 (4), 16-34: https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.454.922&rep=rep1&type=pdf
- Everitt, B. S., & Skrondal, A. (2010). *The Cambridge Dictionary of Statistics*. Retrieved from Cambridge University Press.
- Fisher, J., Hirscheim, R., & Jacobs, R. (2008, February 13). Understanding the outsourcing learning curve: A longitudinal analysis of a large Australian company. Retrieved from Information Systems Frontiers, 10 (2), 165–178: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10796-008-9070-y

- Ganesh, J., & Moitra, D. (2004). An empirical examination of the determinants of successful transition management in offshore business process outsourcing. Retrieved from Proceedings of the 10th Americas Conference on Information Systems, pp. 3493–3500, New York.
- Ghemawat, P. (1985, March). *Building Strategy on the Experience Curve.* Retrieved from Harvard Business Review: https://hbr.org/1985/03/building-strategy-on-the-experience-curve
- Global Business Process Outsourcing Market 2021-2025. (2020). Retrieved from Reportlinker: https://www.reportlinker.com/p05949834/Global-Business-Process-Outsourcing-Market.html?utm_source=GNW
- Grover, V., Cheon, M. J., & Teng, J. T. (1996). The Effect of Service Quality and Partnership on the Outsourcing of Information Systems Functions. Retrieved from Journal of Management Information Systems Vol. 12, No4, pp 89-116: https://www.researchgate.net/profile/James-Teng-

4/publication/220591851_The_Effect_of_Service_Quality_and_Partnership_on_the_Outsou rcing_of_Information_Systems_Functions/links/54d56c500cf246475807916f/The-Effect-of-Service-Quality-and-Partnership-on-the-O

- Hahn, E. D., Bunyaratavej, K., & Doh, J. P. (2011, March 11). *Impacts of Risk and Service Type on Nearshore and Offshore Investment Location Decisions*. doi: 10.1007/s11575-011-0078-z
- Hak, J. (2011). How to design and conduct an empirical test of a business theory, Erasmus University, *p.* 1-65.
- Heeks, R., Krishna, S., Nicholsen, B., & Sahay, S. (2001). *Synching or sinking: global software outsourcing relationships.* Retrieved from IEEE Software 2 (18), pp. 54–60.
- Herbsleb, J. D., & Mockus, A. (2003). An empirical study of speed and communication in globally distributed software development. Retrieved from IEEE Transactions on Software Engineering, 29 (6), 481–494.
- Hinds, P. (2016, June 27). *Research: Why Best Practices Don't Translate Across Cultures.* Retrieved from Harvard Business Review: https://hbr.org/2016/06/research-why-best-practices-dont-translate-across-cultures
- Jahns, C., Hartmann, E., & Bals, L. (2006, July). *Offshoring: Dimensions and diffusion of a new business concept.* doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pursup.2006.10.001
- Jennex, M. E., & Adelakun, O. (2003). *Success Factors for Offshore Information System Development*. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/15228053.2003.10856024
- Jones, M. C., Cline, M., & Ryan, S. (2006). Exploring knowledge sharing in ERP implementation: an organizational culture framework. Retrieved from Decision Support Systems Vol. 41, pp. 411-434.
- Kaiser, K. M., & Hawk, S. (2004, June). Evolution of Offshore Software Development: From Outsourcing to Cosourcing. Retrieved from MIS Quarterly Executive Vol. 3, No. 2: http://www.umsl.edu/~lacitym/offshore1.pdf
- Kamann, D.-J., & Nieulande, V. v. (2010, March 26). *A Four-filtered method for outsourcing to low-cost countries.* doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-493X.2010.03190.x
- Kobitzsch, W., Rombach, D., & Feldmann, R. L. (2001). *Outsourcing in India*. Retrieved from IEEE Software, 18 (2), pp. 78-86.
- Kotabe, M., & Murray, J. Y. (2004, January). *Global sourcing strategy and sustainable competitive advantage.* doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2003.08.004
- Kvedaravičienė, G. (2008). DEVELOPMENT OF NEARSHORING IN GLOBAL OUTSOURCING MARKET. Retrieved from Economics and Management, Vol. 13, pp. 563-9: https://web.s.ebscohost.com/abstract?direct=true&profile=ehost&scope=site&authtype=cr awler&jrnl=18226515&AN=32588463&h=mI8T9zfIG3OMJfQfOF96C4kvXeTRsNyZ1%2bd3v2Y

8jO2adR3dsF1gXZWdV0YR60iLM79wRcmutZSUJUzil5XB9A%3d%3d&crl=c&resultNs=Admin WebAuth&resultLocal=E

- Lacity, M. C., & Willcocks, L. P. (1998, September). An empirical investigation of Information Technology sourcing practices: Lessons from experience. doi:https://doi.org/10.2307/249670
- Lacity, M. C., & Willcocks, L. P. (2013, March 19). *Outsourcing Business Processes for Innovation*. Retrieved from MIT Sloan: https://sloanreview.mit.edu/article/outsourcing-businessprocesses-for-innovation/
- Lee, H., & Choi, B. (2014, December 23). Knowledge Management Enablers, Processes, and Organizational Performance: An Integrative View and Empirical Examination. Retrieved from Journal of Management Information Systems, Vol. 20, Issue 1, pp. 179-228: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/07421222.2003.11045756
- Lee, J.-N., & Choi, B. (2011, March 1). *Effects of initial and ongoing trust in IT outsourcing: A bilateral perspective.* Retrieved from Information & Management 48, pp. 96-105: https://reader.elsevier.com/reader/sd/pii/S0378720611000188?token=940C05FF2402C4C7 673E918778B0A1A8EB2E91F4AF3C4CACBCB9C4324B5DE1462EE634457B506CEA6FFC7B19C 04B2CED&originRegion=eu-west-1&originCreation=20220505085730
- Lee, J.-N., & Shaila M. Miranda, Y.-M. K. (2004, June). IT Outsourcing Strategies: Universalistic, Contingency, and Configurational Explanations of Success. Retrieved from Information Systems Research Vol. 15, No. 2, pp. 110-131:

https://d1wqtxts1xzle7.cloudfront.net/5622750/7e21807df8c84ef673cde545246-1423009021039-with-cover-page-

v2.pdf?Expires=1643714941&Signature=gni0ddCJd~6czvltUV5CujTLFnKILC7FY8HMs1kGhXty q8lcEIwKqbiwlxchgnld1o4i3v62jR7ce~UoOYfg5JKNvz9UjHcbGMmoyVypzLnQW~PH-0o

Lee, J.-N., Huynh, M. Q., & Hirschheim, R. (2008). An integrative model of trust on IT outsourcing: Examining a bilateral perspective. Retrieved from Information Systems Frontiers, Springer, vol. 10(2), pages 145-163, April.:

https://ideas.repec.org/a/spr/infosf/v10y2008i2d10.1007_s10796-008-9066-7.html Leimeister, S. (2009). *IT Outsourcing Governance*. München: Gabler Verlag.

- Levina, N., & Vaast, E. (2008). *Innovating or doing as told? Status differences and overlapping boundaries in offshore collaboration*. Retrieved from MIS Quarterly 2 (32), pp. 307-332.
- Levine, D. (2014). *Even You Can Learn Statistics and Analytics: An Easy to Understand Guide to Statistics and Analytics 3rd Edition*. Retrieved from Pearson FT Press.
- Looi, M., & Szepan, M. (2021, February). *Outsourcing in Global Software Development: Effects of Temporal Location and Methodologies.* doi:10.13140/RG.2.2.14282.90569
- Marsh, P. (2005, June 9). '*Near-shoring' brings companies closer to home*. Retrieved from Financial Times: https://www.ft.com/content/0e15957a-d918-11d9-8403-00000e2511c8
- Mathrani, A., & Mathrani, S. (2016). *Relational governance in outsourcing partnerships*. Retrieved from Competitiveness Review, Vol. 26 Iss 4 pp. 435 452.
- Mayer, R. C., Davis, J. H., & Schoorman, F. D. (1995). *An integrative model of organizational trust.* Retrieved from Academy of Management Review, Vol. 20, No. 3, pp. 709-734: https://www.jstor.org/stable/258792?seq=1
- Merriam-Webster. (n.d.). *Short list*. Retrieved May 3, 2022, from Merriam-Webster.com dictionary: https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/short%20list
- Meyer, E. (2017, July-August). *Being the Boss in Brussels, Boston, and Beijing*. Retrieved from Harvard Business Review: https://hbr.org/2017/07/being-the-boss-in-brussels-boston-and-beijing
- Mirani, R. (2006, December). *Client-Vendor Relationships in Offshore Application Development: An Evolutionary Framework*. Retrieved from Information Resource Management Journal, 19(4),

pp. 72-86: https://mdsoar.org/bitstream/handle/11603/4134/Client-

Vendor%20Relationships%20in%20Offshore%20Applications%20Development.pdf?sequenc e=1&isAllowed=y

- Orlikowski, W. J. (2002). *Knowing in practice: Enacting a collective capability in distributed organizing.* Retrieved from Organziation Science, 13 (3), 249–273.
- Oshri, I., Kotlarsky, J., & Willcocks, L. P. (2015). *The Handbook of Global Outsourcing and Offshoring, 3rd edition.* Houndmills, Basingstoke, Hampshire: Palgrave Macmillan. Retrieved from https://link.springer.com/book/10.1007/978-1-137-43744-0
- Park, J. Y., Im, K. S., & Kim, J. S. (2011, January). *The role of IT human capability in the knowledge transfer process in IT outsourcing context.* doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2011.01.001
- Reet, C. (2022, February 9). *State of Agile in Procurement and Supply Report*. Retrieved from Agile Business Consortium: https://www.agilebusiness.org/news/595046/-State-of-Agile-in-Procurement-and-Supply-Report.htm
- Reet, C. (2022, February 9). *State of Agile in Procurement and Supply Report*. Retrieved from Agile Business Consortium: https://www.agilebusiness.org/news/595046/-State-of-Agile-in-Procurement-and-Supply-Report.htm
- Rottman, J. W. (2008, March 1). Successful Knowledge Transfer within Offshore Supplier Networks: A Case Study Exploring Social Capital in Strategic Alliances. doi:https://doi.org/10.1057/palgrave.jit.2000127
- Rottman, J. W., & Lacity, M. C. (2008). *A US Client's learning from outsourcing IT work offshore*. Retrieved from Information Systems Frontiers, 10 (2), 259–275.
- Roza, M., Bosch, F. A., & Volberda, H. W. (2011, March 21). Offshoring strategy: Motives, functions, locations, and governance modes of small, medium-sized and large firms. doi:doi:10.1016/j.ibusrev.2011.02.002
- Ruohonen, M. J. (2009). *Nearshoring or Offshoring current trends and a research agenda for business model evolution*. Retrieved from Center for Research on Information, Customer & Innovation Management:

https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.526.3378&rep=rep1&type=pdf

 Salvador, F., Forza, C., & Rungtusanatham, M. (2002, March 11). Modularity, product variety, production volume, and component sourcing: theorizing beyond generic prescriptions.
 Retrieved from Journal of Operations Management Vol. 20, pp. 549-575: https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Fabrizio-

Salvador/publication/222672667_Modularity_product_variety_production_volume_and_co mponent_sourcing_Theorizing_beyond_generic_prescriptions/links/5c823bea92851c69506 0c404/Modularity-product-variety-production-v

Samadi, B., Zohoori, M., Khesal, S. M., & Musram, H. A. (2013, June). *The impact of trust on knowledge sharing.* Retrieved from Interdisciplinary Journal of Contemporary Research in Business, Vol. 5, No. 2:

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/263231587_The_Impact_of_Trust_on_Knowledg e_Sharing

- Shamis, G. S., Green, M. C., Sorensen, S. M., & Kyle, D. L. (2005, June). *Outsourcing, Offshoring, Nearshoring: What to Do?* Retrieved from Journal of Accountancy; New York Vol. 199, Iss. 6,
 : Shamis, Gary S; Green, M Cathryn; Sorensen, Susan M; Kyle, Donald L.
- Squire, B., Cousins, P. D., & Brown, S. (2009). Cooperation and Knowledge Transfer within Buyer-Supplier Relationships: The Moderating Properties of Trust, Relationship Duration and Supplier Performance. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8551.2008.00595.x

Stratman, J. K. (2008). Facilitating offshoring with enterprise technologies: Reducing operational friction in the governance and production of services. Retrieved from Journal of Operations Management 26 (2008) 275–287: https://isiarticles.com/bundles/Article/pre/pdf/12030.pdf

Strikwerda, J. (2010). *Shared Service Centers II: Van kostenbesparing naar waardecreatie.* Assen/ Den Haag: Van Gorcum/ Stichting Management Studies.

Stringfellow, A., Teagarden, M. B., & Nie, W. (2008). *Invisible costs in offshoring services work*. Retrieved from Journal of Operations Management, 26 (2), 164–179: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1016/j.jom.2007.02.009

Surdea-Blaga, B. (2019, February). *The case for Business Services Offshoring*. Retrieved from ResearchGate:

- Suyidno, Nur, M., Yuanita, L., & Prahani, B. K. (2017, February). Validity of Creative Responsibility Based Learning: An Innovative Physics Learning to Prepare the Generation of Creative and Responsibility. doi:10.9790/7388-0701025661
- The growth of white-collar offshoring: Germany and the US from 1980 to 2006. (2011, August). doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2011.02.002
- The Maturation of Offshore Sourcing of Information Technology Work. (2002). doi:10.1007/978-3-540-34877-1_22
- *The rise of nearshoring*. (2005, December 1). Retrieved from The Economist: https://www.economist.com/special-report/2005/12/01/the-rise-of-nearshoring
- Underwood, M., & Stoler, M. (2020). *Deloitte Global Outsourcing Survey 2020*. Retrieved from Deloitte: https://www2.deloitte.com/us/en/pages/operations/articles/global-outsourcingsurvey.html
- Verhoeven, N. (2019). Doing Research (1st ed.). Boom Lemma.
- Voigt, B., Novak, J., & Schwabe, G. (2007). *How to manage knowledge transfer in IT Outsourcing relationships: Towards a reference model.* Retrieved from Proceedings of the 13th Americas Conference on Information Systems, pp. 1-10.
- Wang, E. T. (2002). Transaction attributes and software outsourcing success: an empirical investigation of transaction cost theory. Retrieved from Information Systems Journal Vol. 12, pp. 153-181:

https://d1wqtxts1xzle7.cloudfront.net/49484660/Transaction_attributes_and_software_out s20161009-597-170sb24-with-cover-page-

v2.pdf?Expires=1643714905&Signature=YEmY26HWsA2A9y9dczkTM4C-

egbSAxCE1dJLcqtKefz4tVjqvJsVbljRi6EtJnCsvCTcKAdlW4HDP~T~gCivCMs6WxKrI64

- Wang, P., Tong, T. W., & Koh, C. P. (2004). *An integrated model of knowledge transfer: From MNC parent to China subsidiary*. Retrieved from Journal of World Business, 39 (2), 168–182.
- Welter, F., & Alex, N. (2011, January). *Researching trust in different cultures*. Retrieved from ResearchGate:

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/235966787_Researching_trust_in_different_cult ures

- Westner, M. (2009, January 1). Antecedents of success in IS offshoring projects Proposal for an empirical research study. Retrieved from AIS Electronic Library (AISeL): https://aisel.aisnet.org/ecis2009/272/
- Westner, M. K., & Strahringer, S. (2008). *Evaluation criteria for selecting offshoring candidates: An analysis of practices in German Businesses.* Retrieved from Journal of Information Technology Management, Volume 19, Number 4:

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/331160679_THE_CASE_FOR_BUSINESS_SERVICE S_OFFSHORING

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/200033799_Evaluation_Criteria_For_Selecting_ Offshoring_Candidates_An_Analysis_of_Practices_in_German_Businesses

- Westner, M., & Strahringer, S. (2010). Determinants of success in IS offshoring projects: Results from an empirical study. Retrieved from Information & Management Journal Vol. 49, pp. 291-299: http://celesteng.mis.yzu.edu.tw/im591/IM520%20(11)/10%20IS%20offshoring%20(2%20IM %202010).pdf
- Willcocks, L. P., & Lacity, M. C. (2006). *Global Sourcing of Business and IT Services*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan. doi:10.1057/9780230288034
- Windsor, J., Ryan, S., & Prybutok, V. (2010). Organizational Practices That Foster Knowledge Sharing: Validation across Distinct National Cultures. Retrieved from Informing Science: the International Journal of an Emerging Transdiscipline, Vol. 13: https://www.academia.edu/23871943/Organizational_Practices_That_Foster_Knowledge_S haring_Validation_across_Distinct_National_Cultures?auto=citations&from=cover_page
- Winkler, J. K., Dibbern, J., & Heinzl, A. (2008, April). The impact of cultural differences in offshore outsourcing—Case study results from German—Indian application development projects.
 Retrieved from Information Systems Frontiers, Springer, vol. 10(2), pages 243-258: https://ideas.repec.org/a/spr/infosf/v10y2008i2d10.1007 s10796-008-9068-5.html
- Wu, C.-H., & Parker, S. K. (2017, April). The Role of Leader Support in Facilitating Proactive Work Behavior: A Perspective From Attachment Theory. Retrieved from Journal of Management, Vol. 43, No. 4, pp. 1025-1049:

https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0149206314544745

- Wu, G., Liu, C., Zhao, X., & Zuo, J. (2017). Investigating the relationship between communicationconflict interaction and project success among construction project teams. Retrieved from International Journal of Project Management, Vol. 35, pp. 1466-1482.
- Wüllenweber, K., Beimborn, D., Weitzel, T., & König, W. (2008). The impact of process standardization on business process outsourcing success. Retrieved from Springer Science: https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Daniel Beimborn/publication/220198749_The_Impact_of_Process_Standardization_on_Business_P rocess_Outsourcing_Success/links/56e7fda308aec65cb45e7419/The-Impact-of-Process-Standardization-on-Business-Process-Outsourcing-S
- Xu, P., & Yao, Y. (2006). Knowledge transfer in system development offshore outsourcing projects.
 Retrieved from I. Garcia, R. Trejo (Eds.), in: Proceedings of the 12th Americas Conference on Information Systems, pp. 3125–3130.
- Zaheer, A., McEvily, B., & Perrone, V. (1998, April 1). *Does Trust Matter? Exploring the Effects of Interorganizational and Interpersonal Trust on Performance.* doi:https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.9.2.141
- Zimmermann, A., Oshri, I., Lioliou, E., & Gerbasi, A. (2018, March). Sourcing in or out: Implications for social capital and knowledge sharing. Retrieved from The Journal of Strategic Information Systems, Vol. 27, Issue 1, pp 82-100: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsis.2017.05.001
- Zwikael, O., Shimizu, K., & Globerson, S. (2005, August). Cultural differences in project management capabilities: A field study. Retrieved from International Journal of Project Management, Vol. 23, Issue 6, pp. 454-462:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0263786305000530

Appendix A – Overview of statements from previous studies

| Dimension | Indicator | Statement | Based on |
|----------------------|-------------|---|------------------|
| Nearshoring | OS_NSEXP_1 | At the start, most project team members were | Carmel and |
| expertise | | already experienced in nearshore arrangements. | Agarwal 2002, |
| | OS_NSEXP_2 | At the start our company had already performed | Westner 2009 |
| | | many projects in nearshore arrangements. | |
| | OS_NSEXP_3 | At the start, our company had dedicated processes | |
| | | and organizational structures in place to plan, | |
| | | manage, and execute nearshore arrangements. | |
| | OS_NSEXP_4 | Overall, we considered our level of nearshoring expertise to be high. | |
| Trust in | OS TRUST 1 | After starting with the NSP we realized that its staff | Lee et al. 2008 |
| Nearshore Service | | made good decisions under any circumstances. | |
| Provider (NSP) | OS_TRUST_2 | After starting with the NSP we realized that its staff | |
| | | was willing to provide assistance without exception. | |
| | OS_TRUST_3 | After starting with the NSP we felt that its staff | |
| | | reliably provided pre-specified support. | |
| | OS_TRUST_4 | After starting with the NSP we felt that its staff was | |
| | | nonest. | |
| | US_IRUSI_5 | After starting with the NSP we felt that its staff | |
| | OS TRUST 6 | Overall, we folt that we could trust the NSB staff | |
| Project suitability | | The nearshored project's effort (in person-months) | Westner 2009 |
| r toject suitability | 03_3011A_1 | was rather large. | Westner 2005 |
| | OS_SUITA_2 | The nearshored project's duration was short. | |
| | OS_SUITA_3 | The primary operating language of the project was English. | |
| | OS_SUITA_4 | Most of the information and knowledge about the | |
| | | project was well documented. | |
| | OS_SUITA_5 | The project required business-specific know-how of staff members. | |
| Knowledge | OS_KNOWT_1 | The NSP staff had learned a great deal about the | Lee et al. 2008, |
| transfer | | project-related technology/process know-how. | Simonin 1999 |
| | OS_KNOWT_2 | The NSP staff reduced its reliance or dependence | |
| | | upon us during the project. | |
| | OS_KNOWT_3 | Overall, we were satisfied with the knowledge | |
| | | transition between us and the NSP staff during the | |
| | | project | E |
| Liaison quality | OS_LIAISO_1 | During the project our staff and NSP staff | Erickson and |
| | | Communicated openity. | 2006 Yu and |
| | | a mutual understanding of the respective ethnic and | Yao 2006 |
| | | corporate cultures. | 100 2000 |
| | OS LIAISO 3 | During the project our staff and NSP staff perceived | |
| | | themselves as equal and recognized members of the | |
| | | project team. | |
| | OS_LIAISO_4 | During the project our staff and NSP staff formed | |
| | | close working connections with each other. | |

| | OS_LIAISO_5 | Overall, we were satisfied with the working liaison between our staff and NSP staff. | |
|---------------------------|--------------|--|------------------------------|
| Nearshore project success | OS_SUCCESS_1 | How satisfied was your organization with the project plan/time schedule. | Erickson and Ranganathan |
| | OS_SUCCESS_2 | How satisfied was your organization with the project budget. | 2006, Grover et al. 1996, |
| | OS_SUCCESS_3 | How satisfied was your organization with the project functionality. | Wüllenweber et al. 2008 |
| | OS_SUCCESS_4 | How satisfied was your organization with the project quality. | |
| | OS_SUCCESS_5 | How satisfied was your organization with the overall outcome of our nearshore arrangement. | |

Table 30: Measurement instrument for research model (buyer-side)

| Dimension | Indicator | Statement | Based on |
|---------------------------|---------------|--|----------------------------------|
| Nearshoring | NS NSEXP 1 | At the start, most project team members were | Carmel and |
| expertise | | already experienced in nearshore arrangements. | Agarwal 2002, |
| | NS_NSEXP_2 | At the start our company had already performed | Westner 2009 |
| | | many projects in nearshore arrangements. | |
| | NS_NSEXP_3 | At the start, our company had dedicated processes | |
| | | and organizational structures in place to plan, | |
| | | manage, and execute nearshore arrangements. | |
| | NS_NSEXP_4 | Overall, we considered our level of nearshoring | |
| Trust in on-site staff | NC TOUCT 1 | expertise to be high. | Lee et al. 2008 |
| | NS_IRUSI_I | they made good decisions under any circumstances | |
| | NS TRUST 2 | After starting with the on-site staff we realized that | |
| | 113_11031_2 | they were willing to provide assistance without | |
| | | exception. | |
| | NS_TRUST_3 | After starting with the on-site staff we felt that they | |
| | | reliably provided pre-specified support. | |
| | NS_TRUST_4 | After starting with the on-site staff we felt that they | |
| | | were honest. | |
| | NS_TRUST_5 | After starting with the on-site staff we felt that they | |
| | | cared about the nearshore staff. | |
| . | NS_TRUST_6 | Overall, we felt that we could trust the on-site staff. | |
| Project suitability | NS_SUITA_1 | The nearshored project's effort (in person-months) was rather large. | Westner 2009 |
| | NS SUITA 2 | The nearshored project's duration was short. | |
| | NS_SUITA_3 | The primary operating language of the project was | |
| | | English. | |
| | NS_SUITA_4 | Most of the information and knowledge about the | |
| | | project was well documented. | |
| | NS_SUITA_5 | The project required business-specific know-how of | |
| | | staff members. | |
| Knowledge transfer | NS_KNOWT_1 | The on-site staff had a great deal of expertise of | Lee et al. 2008, Simonin 1999 |
| | | project-related technology/process know-how. | |
| | INS_KINUVVI_2 | upon us during the project | |
| | | upon us during the project. | 1 |

| | NS_KNOWT_3 | Overall, we were satisfied with the knowledge transition between us and the on-site staff during the project. | |
|------------------------------|--------------|--|---|
| Liaison quality | NS_LIAISO_1 | During the project our staff and on-site staff communicated openly. | Erickson and Ranganathan 2006, Xu and Yao 2006 |
| | NS_LIAISO_2 | During the project our staff and on-site staff developed a mutual understanding of the respective ethnic and corporate cultures. | |
| | NS_LIAISO_3 | During the project our staff and on-site staff perceived themselves as equal and recognized members of the project team. | |
| | NS_LIAISO_4 | During the project our staff and on-site staff formed close working connections with each other. | |
| | NS_LIAISO_5 | Overall, we were satisfied with the working liaison between our staff and on-site staff. | |
| Nearshore project success | NS_SUCCESS_1 | How satisfied was your organization with the project plan/time schedule. | Erickson and Ranganathan 2006, Grover et al. 1996, Wüllenweber et al. 2008 |
| | NS_SUCCESS_2 | How satisfied was your organization with the project budget. | |
| | NS_SUCCESS_3 | How satisfied was your organization with the project functionality. | |
| | NS_SUCCESS_4 | How satisfied was your organization with the project quality. | |
| | NS_SUCCESS_5 | How satisfied was your organization with the overall outcome of our nearshore arrangement. | |

 Table 31: Measurement instrument for research model (supplier-side)

Appendix B – Survey design

Start of Block: Page 1 - Introduction

Intro landing page

Dear Participant,

This survey identifies **success factors for nearshoring transition projects of IT Services**. By completing this survey you contribute to research that supports in improving future nearshore transitions.

The survey takes **approximately** 10 minutes to finish. Your response to this questionnaire will be fully anonymous, no personal data is requested. All responses will only be used in aggregated form and your personal results will not be released to anyone.

Elias de Beer Master student ICT in Business at Leiden University

Dr. Christoph J. Stettina Professor at Leiden University

End of Block: Page 1 - Introduction

Start of Block: Page 2 - Demographics

Q1 - Country

What is the size of your organization in terms of employees?

- Less than 1001 employees
- o 1001 to 5000 employees
- o 5001 to 25.000 employees
- More than 25.000 employees

Q2 - Industry

Which of the following sectors best describes the industry you primarily work in?

▼ Banking & insurance ... Other

Q3 - Years of exp

How many years of experience in near-/offshoring do you have?

- \circ Less than 1 year
- \circ 1 to 2 years
- \circ 3 to 5 years
- \circ 6 to 9 years
- o More than 10 years

Q4.1 - Involvement

Have you ever been involved as a buyer/supplier in a nearshoring project?

- o Yes
- **No**

Q5 - NS engagement

Have you engaged in at least one (nearly) finalized IT Services nearshore transition project? A nearshore transition project is a focused on relocating people, processes and/or technology from on-site to a nearshore location.

- o Yes
- o No

Page Break

Intro 2nd part

This is the second part of the survey.

Now think of one **specific recent IT Services nearshore transition project** and respond to the following questions based on your own experience.

This type of project is about relocating the client's IT Services to a nearshore location. It can be moved to a third party (outsourced) or kept in-house.

Page Break

This is the second part of the survey.

Now think of **one specific recent IT Services nearshore transition project** and respond to the following questions based on your own experience.

Q6 - OS country Which country does the work **originate from**? *Choose the "customer" country; on-site location*

▼ Albania ... Uruguay

Q7 - NS country Which country is the work **nearshored to**? *Choose the "vendor" country; nearshore location*

▼ Albania ... Uruguay

Q8 - Year of finish

In which **year** did the nearshore transition project **finish**? *The year of the work becoming operational on the nearshore location.*

Q9 - Managerial pos

Which option best describes your role during the project?

- Business Unit Management
- Contract / Commercial Management
- o Leadership / Management / Board of Directors or similar
- Legal
- o IT / Technical / Developer
- Procurement / Supply Management
- Project Management
- Other (please specify): ______

Q10 - Sourcing type

Which type of sourcing applies to the buyer/supplier relationship?

- In-house (captive); Captive sourcing is the process of establishing and operating from a dedicated facility to perform your own work
- Third party (outsourcing); *Outsourcing is the process of delegating this work to a third-party organization*

Q11 - Perspective

Which side did you mostly represent during the project?

- Buyer-side / On-site inhouse (receiver of nearshore services)
- Supplier side / Inhouse nearshore location (provider of nearshore services)

Page Break

Q12 - IT Services

Which type of IT Services were relocated during this project? *Multiple answers possible*

- Administrative services
- Application services
- End-user support
- Networks / telecommunications management
- Procurement services
- System planning & management
- Systems operations
- Other (please specify): _____

Q13 - PM method

What project/product management method was used throughout the project?

- Traditional Project Management (e.g. PRINCE2, PMBoK, etc.)
- Agile Project/Product Management (e.g. Scrum, Kanban, etc.)
- Both or combination (e.g. PRINCE2 Agile)
- o None

Q14 - Sourcing model

Which sourcing model applies to the nearshored team?

The level of team governance and responsibility distribution between client (on-site) and vendor (nearshore).

- Managed Service; When a vendor takes complete end-to-end responsibility
- Project execution and delivery/Managed Delivery; *When a vendor takes execution responsibility for the project and its staff*
- Managed Capacity; The client requests a certain quantity of person-days who are partially managed by the vendor
- Staff Augmentation/Unmanaged Capacity; *Is used when individuals are sourced without steering from vendor's side (nearshore location)*
- o Don't know

Display This Question:

If Which side did you mostly represent during the project? = Buyer-side / On-site inhouse (receiver of nearshore services)

Q15.1 - Intention

What were the reasons to execute this project **in a nearshore location**? *Multiple answers possible*

- Access to skills/capabilities
- Business alignment improvement
- Complexity reduction
- Cost reduction
- Focus on core capabilities
- Improvement of service quality
- Innovation
- Limited capacity or capacity shortage
- Risk reduction
- Stakeholder management improvement
- Team morale improvement
- Other (please specify): ____

Display This Question:

If Which side did you mostly represent during the project? = Buyer-side / On-site inhouse (receiver of nearshore services)

Q15.2 - NS reasons

What were the reasons to execute this project **to this specific geographical location**? *Multiple answers possible*

- Access to skills/capabilities
- Common language
- Company politics
- Cost reduction
- Cultural understanding
- (Geo-)political stability
- Risk reduction
- Similar timezones
- Other (please specify):

End of Block: Page 2 - Demographics

Start of Block: Page 3 - Statements for on-site experts (buyer)

Display This Question:

If Which side did you mostly represent during the project? = Buyer-side / On-site inhouse (receiver of nearshore services)

Intro for on-site

This is the final part of the survey.

It consists of 6 topics related to nearshoring success: Nearshoring expertise, Trust in Nearshore Service Provider (NSP), Project suitability, Knowledge transfer, Liaison quality and Nearshore project success.

This section compares the relationship between on-site and nearshore staff. The **buyer/consumer** is **on-site** staff, they wished to nearshore their people, processes and/or technology. The **(in-house or external)** supplier is nearshore staff, they are supplier of people, processes and/or technology in a nearby country of the consumer.

Please answer the following statements regarding the same nearshore transition project that you were involved in, based on your own experience.

Page Break
If Which side did you mostly represent during the project? = Buyer-side / On-site inhouse (receiver of nearshore services)

S1-S4 - OS NSEXP

Nearshoring expertise

"Our company" = on-site company (buyer/consumer) "We" = on-site staff

| | Strongly disagree | Disagree | Somewhat disagree | Neither agree nor disagree | Somewhat agree | Agree | Strongly agree |
|---|----------------------|----------|----------------------|-------------------------------------|-------------------|-------|-------------------|
| At the start, most project team members were already experienced in nearshore arrangements. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| At the start our company had already performed many projects in nearshore arrangements. | 0 | 0 | o | 0 | o | 0 | 0 |
| At the start, our company had dedicated processes and organizational structures in place to plan, manage, and execute nearshore arrangements. | O | o | o | o | o | 0 | 0 |
| Overall, we considered our level of nearshoring expertise to be high. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |

If Which side did you mostly represent during the project? = Buyer-side / On-site inhouse (receiver of nearshore services)

S5-S10 - OS TRUST

Trust in Nearshore Service Provider (NSP)

A Nearshore Service Provider can be in-house or outsource

| | Strongly disagree | Disagree | Somewhat disagree | Neither agree nor disagree | Somewhat agree | Agree | Strongly agree |
|---|----------------------|----------|----------------------|-------------------------------------|-------------------|-------|-------------------|
| After starting with the NSP we realized that its staff made good decisions under any circumstances. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| After starting with the NSP we realized that its staff was willing to provide assistance without exception. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| After starting with the NSP we felt that its staff reliably provided pre- specified support. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| After starting with the NSP we felt that its staff was honest. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| After starting with the NSP we felt that its staff cared about the on-site staff. | 0 | 0 | o | 0 | o | 0 | 0 |
| Overall, we felt that we could trust the NSP staff. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |

Page Break -

If Which side did you mostly represent during the project? = Buyer-side / On-site inhouse (receiver of nearshore services)

S11-S15 - OS SUITA

Project suitability

Measuring the readiness level of the nearshore transition project

| | Strongly disagree | Disagree | Somewhat disagree | Neither agree nor disagree | Somewhat agree | Agree | Strongly agree |
|--|----------------------|----------|----------------------|-------------------------------------|-------------------|-------|-------------------|
| The nearshored project's effort (in person-months) was rather large. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| The nearshored project's duration was short. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| The primary operating language of the project was English. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Most of the information and knowledge about the project was well documented. | 0 | 0 | O | 0 | O | 0 | 0 |
| The project required business-specific know-how of staff members. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |

If Which side did you mostly represent during the project? = Buyer-side / On-site inhouse (receiver of nearshore services)

S16-S18 - OS KNOWT

Knowledge transfer

From on-site to nearshore

*NSP = Nearshore Service Provider (in-house/external)

"We"/"us" = on-site staff

| | Strongly disagree | Disagree | Somewhat disagree | Neither agree nor disagree | Somewhat agree | Agree | Strongly agree |
|--|----------------------|----------|----------------------|-------------------------------------|-------------------|-------|-------------------|
| The NSP* staff had learned a great deal about the project- related technology/process know-how. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | O | 0 | 0 |
| The NSP staff reduced its reliance or dependence upon us during the project. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Overall, we were satisfied with the knowledge transition between us and the NSP staff during the project | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | o |

Page Break

If Which side did you mostly represent during the project? = Buyer-side / On-site inhouse (receiver of nearshore services)

S19-S23 - OS LIAISO

Liaison quality From on-site to nearshore "We"/"our staff" = on-site staff

| | Strongly disagree | Disagree | Somewhat disagree | Neither agree nor disagree | Somewhat agree | Agree | Strongly agree |
|---|----------------------|----------|----------------------|-------------------------------------|-------------------|-------|-------------------|
| During the project our staff and NSP staff communicated openly. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| During the project our staff and NSP staff developed a mutual understanding of the respective ethnic and corporate cultures. | O | o | O | o | o | O | 0 |
| During the project our staff and NSP staff perceived themselves as equal and recognized members of the project team. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| During the project our staff and NSP staff formed close working connections with each other. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Overall, we were satisfied with the working liaison between our staff and NSP staff. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | o | 0 | 0 |

If Which side did you mostly represent during the project? = Buyer-side / On-site inhouse (receiver of nearshore services)

S24-S28 - OS SUCCESS

Nearshore project success

Measuring the level of nearshore transition project success

| | Extremely dissatisfied | Moderately dissatisfied | Slightly dissatisfied | Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied | Slightly satisfied | Moderately satisfied | Extremely satisfied | Don't know |
|--|---------------------------|----------------------------|--------------------------|---|-----------------------|----------------------|---------------------|---------------|
| How satisfied was your organization with the project plan/time schedule. | O | 0 | 0 | O | 0 | O | 0 | 0 |
| How satisfied was your organization with the project budget. | o | 0 | 0 | o | 0 | O | 0 | 0 |
| How satisfied was your organization with the project functionality. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | o | 0 |
| How satisfied was your organization with the project quality. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| How satisfied was your organization with the overall outcome of our nearshore arrangement. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | o | o |

End of Block: Page 3 - Statements for on-site experts (buyer)

Start of Block: Page 4 - Statements for nearshore experts (supplier)

Display This Question:

If Which side did you mostly represent during the project? = Supplier side / Inhouse nearshore location (provider of nearshore services)

Intro for nearshore

This is the final part of the survey.

It consists of 6 topics related to nearshoring success: *Nearshoring expertise, Trust in on-site staff, Project suitability, Knowledge transfer, Liaison quality and Nearshore project success.*

This section compares the relationship between on-site and nearshore staff. The **buyer/consumer is on-site** staff, they wished to nearshore their people, processes and/or technology. The **(in-house or external) supplier is nearshore** staff, they are supplier of people, processes and/or technology in a nearby country of the consumer.

Please answer the following statements regarding the same nearshore transition project that you were involved in, based on your own experience.

Page Break

If Which side did you mostly represent during the project? = Supplier side / Inhouse nearshore location (provider of nearshore services)

S1-S4 - NS NSEXP

Nearshoring expertise

"Our company"/"we" = (in-house or external) Nearshore Service Provider

| | Strongly disagree | Disagree | Somewhat disagree | Neither agree nor disagree | Somewhat agree | Agree | Strongly agree |
|--|----------------------|----------|----------------------|----------------------------------|-------------------|-------|-------------------|
| At the start, most project team members were already experienced in nearshore arrangements. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| At the start our company had already performed many projects in nearshore arrangements. | o | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| At the start, our company had dedicated processes and organizational structures in place to plan, manage, and execute nearshore arrangements. | o | o | o | 0 | 0 | 0 | O |
| Overall, we considered our level of nearshoring expertise to be high. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |

If Which side did you mostly represent during the project? = Supplier side / Inhouse nearshore location (provider of nearshore services)

S5-S10 - NS TRUST

Trust in on-site staff

"We" = (in-house or external) Nearshore Service Provider

| | Strongly disagree | Disagree | Somewhat disagree | Neither agree nor disagree | Somewhat agree | Agree | Strongly agree |
|--|----------------------|----------|----------------------|----------------------------------|-------------------|-------|-------------------|
| After starting with the on-site staff we realized that they made good decisions under any circumstances. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| After starting with the on-site staff we realized that they were willing to provide assistance without exception. | o | 0 | 0 | o | 0 | 0 | o |
| After starting with the on-site staff we felt that they reliably provided pre- specified support. | 0 | 0 | o | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| After starting with the on-site staff we felt that they were honest. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| After starting with the on-site staff we felt that they cared about the nearshore staff. | 0 | 0 | o | o | 0 | 0 | O |
| Overall, we felt that we could trust the on-site staff. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| | | | | | | | |

Page Break —

If Which side did you mostly represent during the project? = Supplier side / Inhouse nearshore location (provider of nearshore services)

S11-S15 - NS SUITA

Project suitability

Measuring the readiness level of the nearshore transition project

| | Strongly disagree | Disagree | Somewhat disagree | Neither agree nor disagree | Somewhat agree | Agree | Strongly agree |
|--|----------------------|----------|----------------------|----------------------------------|-------------------|-------|-------------------|
| The nearshored project's effort (in person-months) was rather large. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| The nearshored project's duration was short. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| The primary operating language of the project was English. | 0 | 0 | O | O | o | 0 | 0 |
| Most of the information and knowledge about the project was well documented. | 0 | 0 | O | O | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| The project required business- specific know-how of staff members. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |

If Which side did you mostly represent during the project? = Supplier side / Inhouse nearshore location (provider of nearshore services)

S16-S18 - NS KNOWT

Knowledge transfer

From nearshore to on-site

"We"/"us" = (in-house or external) Nearshore Service Provider

| | Strongly disagree | Disagree | Somewhat disagree | Neither agree nor disagree | Somewhat agree | Agree | Strongly agree |
|---|----------------------|----------|----------------------|-------------------------------------|-------------------|-------|-------------------|
| The on-site staff had a great deal of expertise of project-related technology/process know-how. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| The on-site staff reduced its reliance or dependence upon us during the project. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | O |
| Overall, we were satisfied with the knowledge transition between us and the on- site staff during the project. | 0 | o | 0 | o | 0 | 0 | 0 |

Page Break

If Which side did you mostly represent during the project? = Supplier side / Inhouse nearshore location (provider of nearshore services)

S19-S23 - NS LIAISO

Liaison quality

From nearshore to on-site

"We"/"our staff" = (in-house or external) Nearshore Service Provider

| | Strongly disagree | Disagree | Somewhat disagree | Neither agree nor disagree | Somewhat agree | Agree | Strongly agree |
|--|----------------------|----------|----------------------|----------------------------------|-------------------|-------|-------------------|
| During the project our staff and on-site staff communicated openly. | 0 | 0 | O | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| During the project our staff and on-site staff developed a mutual understanding of the respective ethnic and corporate cultures. | o | 0 | O | 0 | o | 0 | o |
| During the project our staff and on-site staff perceived themselves as equal and recognized members of the project team. | o | 0 | O | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| During the project our staff and on-site staff formed close working connections with each other. | 0 | o | o | o | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Overall, we were satisfied with the working liaison between our staff and on-site staff. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |

If Which side did you mostly represent during the project? = Supplier side / Inhouse nearshore location (provider of nearshore services)

S24-S28 - NS SUCCESS

Nearshore project success

Measuring the level of nearshore transition project success

| | Extremely dissatisfied | Moderately dissatisfied | Slightly dissatisfied | Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied | Slightly satisfied | Moderately satisfied | Extremely satisfied | Don't know |
|--|---------------------------|----------------------------|--------------------------|---|-----------------------|----------------------|---------------------|---------------|
| How satisfied was your organization with the project plan/time schedule. | O | 0 | O | O | 0 | O | O | 0 |
| How satisfied was your organization with the project budget. | o | 0 | o | O | 0 | O | O | 0 |
| How satisfied was your organization with the project functionality. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | O | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| How satisfied was your organization with the project quality. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| How satisfied was your organization with the overall outcome of our nearshore arrangement. | 0 | 0 | 0 | ο | Ο | ο | Ο | 0 |

End of Block: Page 4 - Statements for nearshore experts (supplier)

Start of Block: Page 5 - Final thoughts

Final thoughts Final thoughts

Do you have additional comments for the survey/research in general?

E-mail address

If you would like to receive the research results, please write your e-mail address below. *This is only for sending results, not for analysis*

End of Block: Page 5 - Final thoughts



Appendix C – Heatmap of respondents on-site global distribution



Appendix D – Heatmap of respondents nearshore global distribution

Appendix E – Descriptive statistics (full sample)

Descriptive Statistics

| Descriptive Statistics | | | | | | |
|------------------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|--------|---------|
| | NSEXP | TRUST | SUITA | KNOWT | LIAISO | SUCCESS |
| Valid | 92 | 92 | 92 | 92 | 92 | 92 |
| Mode | 6.000 | 6.000 | 5.000 | 6.000 | 6.000 | 6.000 |
| Median | 5.000 | 6.000 | 5.000 | 5.000 | 6.000 | 6.000 |
| Mean | 4.989 | 5.522 | 4.957 | 5.207 | 5.609 | 6.000 |
| Std. Deviation | 1.763 | 1.288 | 0.769 | 1.172 | 1.275 | 1.213 |
| Minimum | 1.000 | 1.000 | 3.000 | 1.000 | 1.000 | 1.000 |
| Maximum | 7.000 | 7.000 | 7.000 | 7.000 | 7.000 | 7.000 |

Appendix F – Undimensional Reliability test results (Full sample)

Unidimensional Reliability [NSEXP]

Frequentist Scale Reliability Statistics

| Estimate | Cronbach's α mean | sd |
|--------------------|--------------------------|-------|
| Point estimate | 0.895 19.696 | 6.944 |
| 95% CI lower bound | 0.853 18.277 | 6.065 |
| 95% CI upper bound | 0.927 21.115 | 8.123 |

Frequentist Individual Item Reliability Statistics

| | If item dropped | | |
|---------|---------------------|-------|-------|
| ltem | Cronbach's α | mean | sd |
| NSEXP_1 | 0.929 | 4.587 | 1.962 |
| NSEXP_2 | 0.845 | 4.978 | 1.972 |
| NSEXP_3 | 0.851 | 5.022 | 2.075 |
| NSEXP_4 | 0.825 | 5.109 | 1.947 |

Unidimensional Reliability [TRUST]

Frequentist Scale Reliability Statistics

| Estimate | $\textit{Cronbach's} \; \alpha \; \textit{mean}$ | sd |
|--------------------|--|-------|
| Point estimate | 0.938 32.315 | 7.477 |
| 95% CI lower bound | 0.914 30.787 | 6.531 |
| 95% CI upper bound | 0.955 33.843 | 8.747 |

Frequentist Individual Item Reliability Statistics

| | If item dropped | | |
|---------|---------------------|-------|-------|
| ltem | Cronbach's α | mean | sd |
| TRUST_1 | 0.932 | 5.163 | 1.455 |
| TRUST_2 | 0.921 | 5.359 | 1.523 |
| TRUST_3 | 0.933 | 5.185 | 1.452 |
| TRUST_4 | 0.915 | 5.598 | 1.367 |
| TRUST_5 | 0.925 | 5.380 | 1.489 |
| TRUST_6 | 0.929 | 5.630 | 1.264 |

Unidimensional Reliability [SUITA]

Frequentist Scale Reliability Statistics

| Estimate | Cronbach's α | mean | sd |
|--------------------|--------------|--------|-------|
| Point estimate | 0.211 | 24.707 | 3.645 |
| 95% CI lower bound | -0.070 | 23.962 | 3.184 |
| 95% CI upper bound | 0.431 | 25.451 | 4.264 |

Frequentist Scale Reliability Statistics

| Estimat | е | Cronbach's α | mean | sd |
|---------|---|--------------|------|----|
| | _ | | | |

Note. The following item correlated negatively with the scale: SUITA_2.

Frequentist Individual Item Reliability Statistics

| | If item dropped | | |
|---------|---------------------|-------|-------|
| ltem | Cronbach's α | mean | sd |
| SUITA_1 | 0.303 | 5.098 | 1.318 |
| SUITA_2 | 0.455 | 3.261 | 1.575 |
| SUITA_3 | 0.021 | 6.065 | 1.715 |
| SUITA_4 | -0.201 | 4.837 | 1.633 |
| SUITA_5 | 0.068 | 5.446 | 1.103 |

Unidimensional Reliability [KNOWT]

Frequentist Scale Reliability Statistics

| Estimate | Cronbach's α mean | sd |
|--------------------|--------------------------|-------|
| Point estimate | 0.754 15.739 | 3.505 |
| 95% CI lower bound | 0.650 15.023 | 3.061 |
| 95% CI upper bound | 0.832 16.455 | 4.100 |

Frequentist Individual Item Reliability Statistics

| If item dropped | | | |
|-----------------|---------------------|-------|-------|
| ltem | Cronbach's α | mean | sd |
| KNOWT_1 | 0.589 | 5.315 | 1.406 |
| KNOWT_2 | 0.795 | 4.967 | 1.478 |
| KNOWT_3 | 0.619 | 5.457 | 1.394 |

Unidimensional Reliability [LIAISO]

Frequentist Scale Reliability Statistics

| Estimate | $\textit{Cronbach's} \; \alpha \; \textit{mean}$ | sd |
|--------------------|--|-------|
| Point estimate | 0.938 27.717 | 6.068 |
| 95% CI lower bound | 0.915 26.477 | 5.300 |
| 95% CI upper bound | 0.956 28.957 | 7.098 |

| If item dropped | | | |
|-----------------|---------------------|-------|-------|
| Item | Cronbach's α | mean | sd |
| LIAISO_1 | 0.921 | 5.630 | 1.340 |
| LIAISO_2 | 0.918 | 5.717 | 1.287 |
| LIAISO_3 | 0.940 | 5.283 | 1.424 |

| requentist manual term tenability statistics | | | | |
|--|--------------|-------|-------|--|
| If item dropped | | | | |
| Item | Cronbach's α | mean | sd | |
| LIAISO_4 | 0.924 | 5.457 | 1.304 | |
| LIAISO_5 | 0.917 | 5.630 | 1.412 | |

Frequentist Individual Item Reliability Statistics

Unidimensional Reliability [SUCCESS]

| Frequentist Scale Reliability Statistics | | | |
|--|--------------|--------|-------|
| Estimate | Cronbach's α | mean | sd |
| Point estimate | 0.911 | 28.957 | 6.530 |
| 95% CI lower bound | 0.877 | 27.622 | 5.703 |
| 95% CI upper bound | 0.937 | 30.291 | 7.638 |

Note. Of the observations, pairwise complete cases were used.

| If item dropped | | | |
|-----------------|--------------|-------|-------|
| Item | Cronbach's α | mean | sd |
| SUCCESS_1 | 0.900 | 5.879 | 1.397 |
| SUCCESS_2 | 0.915 | 5.884 | 1.305 |
| SUCCESS_3 | 0.885 | 6.000 | 1.291 |
| SUCCESS_4 | 0.878 | 6.033 | 1.394 |
| SUCCESS_5 | 0.874 | 6.000 | 1.430 |

Appendix G – Undimensional Reliability test results (Supplier perspective)

Unidimensional Reliability [NS_NSEXP]

Frequentist Scale Reliability Statistics

| • | - | |
|--------------------|----------------------|---|
| Estimate | Cronbach's α mean sd | - |
| Point estimate | 0.889 5.430 1.570 | - |
| 95% CI lower bound | 0.828 5.022 1.325 | |
| 95% CI upper bound | 0.931 5.837 1.926 | |

Frequentist Individual Item Reliability Statistics

| If item dropped | | | |
|-----------------|---------------------|-------|-------|
| Item | Cronbach's α | mean | sd |
| NS_NSEXP_1 | 0.931 | 5.088 | 1.776 |
| NS_NSEXP_2 | 0.835 | 5.509 | 1.824 |
| NS_NSEXP_3 | 0.819 | 5.474 | 1.872 |
| NS_NSEXP_4 | 0.828 | 5.649 | 1.778 |

Unidimensional Reliability [NS_TRUST]

Frequentist Scale Reliability Statistics

| Estimate | $Cronbach's \alpha mean$ | sd |
|--------------------|----------------------------|-------|
| Point estimate | 0.939 5.365 | 1.254 |
| 95% CI lower bound | 0.910 5.040 | 1.058 |
| 95% Cl upper bound | 0.960 5.691 | 1.538 |

Frequentist Individual Item Reliability Statistics

| | If item dropped | | |
|------------|---------------------|-------|-------|
| ltem | Cronbach's α | mean | sd |
| NS_TRUST_1 | 0.929 | 5.263 | 1.458 |
| NS_TRUST_2 | 0.923 | 5.298 | 1.535 |
| NS_TRUST_3 | 0.933 | 5.246 | 1.467 |
| NS_TRUST_4 | 0.917 | 5.509 | 1.428 |
| NS_TRUST_5 | 0.924 | 5.281 | 1.424 |
| NS_TRUST_6 | 0.939 | 5.596 | 1.266 |

Unidimensional Reliability [NS_SUITA]

Frequentist Scale Reliability Statistics

| Estimate | Cronbach's α | mean | sd |
|--------------------|---------------------|-------|-------|
| Point estimate | 0.391 | 4.881 | 0.808 |
| 95% CI lower bound | 0.119 | 4.671 | 0.682 |

Frequentist Scale Reliability Statistics

| Estimate | Cronbach's α | mean | sd |
|--------------------|--------------|-------|-------|
| 95% Cl upper bound | 0.594 | 5.090 | 0.991 |

Note. The following item correlated negatively with the scale: NS_SUITA_2.

Frequentist Individual Item Reliability Statistics

| | If item dropped | | |
|------------|---------------------|-------|-------|
| Item | Cronbach's α | mean | sd |
| NS_SUITA_1 | 0.462 | 5.105 | 1.319 |
| NS_SUITA_2 | 0.554 | 3.123 | 1.402 |
| NS_SUITA_3 | 0.175 | 5.947 | 1.931 |
| NS_SUITA_4 | 0.019 | 4.789 | 1.623 |
| NS_SUITA_5 | 0.262 | 5.439 | 1.069 |

Unidimensional Reliability [NS_KNOWT]

| Frequentist Scale Reliability Statistics | | | | |
|--|----------------------|--|--|--|
| Estimate | Cronbach's α mean sd | | | |
| Point estimate | 0.798 5.205 1.215 | | | |
| 95% CI lower bound | 0.683 4.889 1.025 | | | |
| 95% Cl upper bound | 0.876 5.520 1.490 | | | |

Frequentist Individual Item Reliability Statistics

| If item dropped | | | |
|-----------------|---------------------|-------|-------|
| Item | Cronbach's α | mean | sd |
| NS_KNOWT_1 | 0.685 | 5.228 | 1.452 |
| NS_KNOWT_2 | 0.813 | 4.930 | 1.498 |
| NS_KNOWT_3 | 0.674 | 5.456 | 1.364 |

Unidimensional Reliability [NS_LIAISO]

Frequentist Scale Reliability Statistics

| Estimate | Cronbach's α mean sd |
|--------------------|----------------------|
| Point estimate | 0.932 5.582 1.153 |
| 95% CI lower bound | 0.897 5.283 0.973 |
| 95% CI upper bound | 0.957 5.882 1.414 |

| Item | Cronbach's α | mean | sd |
|-------------|---------------------|-------|-------|
| NS_LIAISO_1 | 0.912 | 5.667 | 1.314 |
| NS_LIAISO_2 | 0.911 | 5.772 | 1.239 |
| NS_LIAISO_3 | 0.933 | 5.316 | 1.378 |

Frequentist Individual Item Reliability Statistics

| | If item dropped | | |
|-------------|---------------------|-------|-------|
| Item | Cronbach's α | mean | sd |
| NS_LIAISO_4 | 0.918 | 5.474 | 1.212 |
| NS_LIAISO_5 | 0.907 | 5.684 | 1.352 |

Unidimensional Reliability [NS_SUCCESS]

Frequentist Scale Reliability Statistics

| Estimate | Cronbach's α | mean | sd | |
|--------------------|--------------|-------|-------|--|
| Point estimate | 0.930 | 5.991 | 1.163 | |
| 95% CI lower bound | 0.894 | 5.689 | 0.982 | |
| 95% CI upper bound | 0.955 | 6.293 | 1.427 | |

Note. Of the observations, pairwise complete cases were used.

| <u> </u> | If item dropped | | |
|--------------|---------------------|-------|-------|
| Item | Cronbach's α | mean | sd |
| NS_SUCCESS_1 | 0.918 | 5.947 | 1.329 |
| NS_SUCCESS_2 | 0.932 | 5.722 | 1.497 |
| NS_SUCCESS_3 | 0.916 | 6.035 | 1.239 |
| NS_SUCCESS_4 | 0.907 | 6.161 | 1.262 |
| NS_SUCCESS_5 | 0.898 | 6.054 | 1.327 |

Appendix H – Undimensional Reliability test results (Buyer perspective)

Unidimensional Reliability [OS_TRUST]

Frequentist Scale Reliability Statistics

| • | - |
|--------------------|----------------------|
| Estimate | Cronbach's α mean sd |
| Point estimate | 0.938 5.419 1.251 |
| 95% CI lower bound | 0.894 5.004 1.012 |
| 95% CI upper bound | 0.966 5.834 1.640 |

Frequentist Individual Item Reliability Statistics

| | If item dropped | | |
|------------|---------------------|-------|-------|
| ltem | Cronbach's α | mean | sd |
| OS_TRUST_1 | 0.939 | 5.000 | 1.455 |
| OS_TRUST_2 | 0.923 | 5.457 | 1.521 |
| OS_TRUST_3 | 0.935 | 5.086 | 1.442 |
| OS_TRUST_4 | 0.916 | 5.743 | 1.268 |
| OS_TRUST_5 | 0.931 | 5.543 | 1.597 |
| OS_TRUST_6 | 0.915 | 5.686 | 1.278 |

Unidimensional Reliability [OS_SUITA]

Frequentist Scale Reliability Statistics

| Estimate | Cronbach's α | mean | sd |
|--------------------|--------------|-------|-------|
| Point estimate | -0.400 | 5.040 | 0.576 |
| 95% CI lower bound | -1.358 | 4.849 | 0.466 |
| 95% Cl upper bound | 0.216 | 5.231 | 0.754 |

Note. The following items correlated negatively with the scale: OS_SUITA_2, OS_SUITA_3, OS_SUITA_5.

| | If item dropped | | |
|------------|---------------------|-------|-------|
| Item | Cronbach's α | mean | sd |
| OS_SUITA_1 | -0.204 | 5.086 | 1.337 |
| OS_SUITA_2 | 0.156 | 3.486 | 1.821 |
| OS_SUITA_3 | -0.270 | 6.257 | 1.291 |
| OS_SUITA_4 | -0.902 | 4.914 | 1.669 |
| OS_SUITA_5 | -0.578 | 5.457 | 1.172 |

Unidimensional Reliability [OS_KNOWT]

Frequentist Scale Reliability Statistics

| Estimate | Cronbach's α mean sd |
|--------------------|----------------------|
| Point estimate | 0.668 5.314 1.102 |
| 95% CI lower bound | 0.403 4.949 0.892 |
| 95% Cl upper bound | 0.825 5.680 1.444 |

Frequentist Individual Item Reliability Statistics

| | If item dropped | | |
|------------|---------------------|-------|-------|
| Item | Cronbach's α | mean | sd |
| OS_KNOWT_1 | 0.406 | 5.457 | 1.336 |
| OS_KNOWT_2 | 0.769 | 5.029 | 1.465 |
| OS_KNOWT_3 | 0.504 | 5.457 | 1.462 |

Unidimensional Reliability [OS_LIAISO]

| Frequentist S | Scale Re | liability S | tatistics |
|---------------|----------|-------------|-----------|
| | | | |

| Estimate | Cronbach's α mean sd |
|--------------------|----------------------|
| Point estimate | 0.947 5.480 1.321 |
| 95% CI lower bound | 0.909 5.042 1.069 |
| 95% CI upper bound | 0.970 5.918 1.731 |

Frequentist Individual Item Reliability Statistics

| | If item dropped | | |
|-------------|---------------------|-------|-------|
| Item | Cronbach's α | mean | sd |
| OS_LIAISO_1 | 0.933 | 5.571 | 1.399 |
| OS_LIAISO_2 | 0.927 | 5.629 | 1.374 |
| OS_LIAISO_3 | 0.948 | 5.229 | 1.516 |
| OS_LIAISO_4 | 0.933 | 5.429 | 1.461 |
| OS_LIAISO_5 | 0.930 | 5.543 | 1.521 |

Unidimensional Reliability [OS_LIAISO]

| Frequentist Scale Reliability Statistics | | | | | | |
|--|----------------------------|-------|--|--|--|--|
| Estimate | $Cronbach's \alpha mean$ | sd | | | | |
| Point estimate | 0.947 5.480 | 1.321 | | | | |
| 95% CI lower bound | 0.909 5.042 | 1.069 | | | | |
| 95% Cl upper bound | 0.970 5.918 | 1.731 | | | | |

| | If item dropped | | |
|-------------|---------------------|-------|-------|
| Item | Cronbach's α | mean | sd |
| OS_LIAISO_1 | 0.933 | 5.571 | 1.399 |
| OS_LIAISO_2 | 0.927 | 5.629 | 1.374 |
| OS_LIAISO_3 | 0.948 | 5.229 | 1.516 |
| OS_LIAISO_4 | 0.933 | 5.429 | 1.461 |
| OS_LIAISO_5 | 0.930 | 5.543 | 1.521 |

Frequentist Individual Item Reliability Statistics

Unidimensional Reliability [OS_SUCCESS]

Frequentist Scale Reliability Statistics

| Estimate | Cronbach's α | mean | sd | | |
|--------------------|--------------|-------|-------|--|--|
| Point estimate | 0.883 | 5.924 | 1.224 | | |
| 95% CI lower bound | 0.811 | 5.519 | 0.990 | | |
| 95% CI upper bound | 0.931 | 6.330 | 1.604 | | |

Note. Of the observations, pairwise complete cases were used.

| | If item dropped | | |
|--------------|---------------------|-------|-------|
| Item | Cronbach's α | mean | sd |
| OS_SUCCESS_1 | 0.878 | 5.765 | 1.519 |
| OS_SUCCESS_2 | 0.892 | 6.156 | 0.847 |
| OS_SUCCESS_3 | 0.837 | 5.941 | 1.391 |
| OS_SUCCESS_4 | 0.825 | 5.824 | 1.585 |
| OS_SUCCESS_5 | 0.841 | 5.909 | 1.608 |

Appendix I – Linear regression analysis results (full sample)

Multiple Linear Regression on SUCCESS

| Model Summary - SUCCESS | | | | | | | |
|-------------------------|-------|-------|-------------------------|-------------------|--|--|--|
| Model | R | R² | Adjusted R ² | ² RMSE | | | |
| Ho | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 1.213 | | | |
| H₁ | 0.837 | 0.701 | 0.687 | 0.678 | | | |

ANOVA

| Mode | l | Sum of Squares | df | Mean Square | F | р |
|------|------------|----------------|----|-------------|--------|--------|
| H1 | Regression | 93.959 | 4 | 23.490 | 51.038 | < .001 |
| | Residual | 40.041 | 87 | 0.460 | | |
| | Total | 134.000 | 91 | | | |

Note. The intercept model is omitted, as no meaningful information can be shown.

Coefficients

| Mode | el | Unstandardized | Standard Error | Standardized | t | р |
|------|-------------|----------------|----------------|--------------|--------|--------|
| H₀ | (Intercept) | 6.000 | 0.127 | | 47.426 | < .001 |
| H₁ | (Intercept) | 0.906 | 0.367 | | 2.468 | 0.016 |
| | NSEXP | 0.041 | 0.044 | 0.060 | 0.939 | 0.350 |
| | TRUST | 0.191 | 0.088 | 0.203 | 2.170 | 0.033 |
| | KNOWT | 0.372 | 0.087 | 0.359 | 4.280 | < .001 |
| | LIAISO | 0.338 | 0.087 | 0.355 | 3.877 | < .001 |

Descriptives

| | Ν | Mean | SD | SE |
|---------|----|-------|-------|-------|
| SUCCESS | 92 | 6.000 | 1.213 | 0.127 |
| NSEXP | 92 | 4.989 | 1.763 | 0.184 |
| TRUST | 92 | 5.522 | 1.288 | 0.134 |
| KNOWT | 92 | 5.207 | 1.172 | 0.122 |
| LIAISO | 92 | 5.609 | 1.275 | 0.133 |

Multiple Linear Regression on KNOWT

| Model Summary - KNOWT | | | | | | |
|-----------------------|-------|-------|-------------------------|-------|--|--|
| Model | R | R² | Adjusted R ² | RMSE | | |
| H₀ | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 1.172 | | |
| H₁ | 0.694 | 0.482 | 0.470 | 0.853 | | |

ANOVA

| Model | | Sum of Squares | df | Mean Square | F | р |
|-------|------------|----------------|----|-------------|--------|--------|
| H1 | Regression | 60.278 | 2 | 30.139 | 41.396 | < .001 |

| ANOVA | | | | | |
|----------|----------------|----|-------------|---|---|
| Model | Sum of Squares | df | Mean Square | F | р |
| Residual | 64.798 | 89 | 0.728 | | |
| Total | 125.076 | 91 | | | |

Note. The intercept model is omitted, as no meaningful information can be shown.

Coefficients

| Mode | el | Unstandardized | Standard Error | Standardized | t | р |
|------|-------------|----------------|----------------|--------------|--------|--------|
| Ho | (Intercept) | 5.207 | 0.122 | | 42.597 | < .001 |
| H₁ | (Intercept) | 1.440 | 0.425 | | 3.386 | 0.001 |
| | NSEXP | 0.142 | 0.052 | 0.213 | 2.702 | 0.008 |
| | TRUST | 0.554 | 0.072 | 0.609 | 7.717 | < .001 |

Descriptives

| | Ν | Mean | SD | SE |
|-------|----|-------|-------|-------|
| KNOWT | 92 | 5.207 | 1.172 | 0.122 |
| NSEXP | 92 | 4.989 | 1.763 | 0.184 |
| TRUST | 92 | 5.522 | 1.288 | 0.134 |

Multiple Linear Regression on LIAISO

Model Summary - LIAISO

| Model | R | R² | Adjusted R ² | RMSE |
|-------|-------|-------|-------------------------|-------|
| H₀ | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 1.275 |
| H₁ | 0.752 | 0.565 | 0.555 | 0.850 |

ANOVA

| Mode | el | Sum of Squares | df | Mean Square | F | р |
|------|------------|----------------|----|-------------|--------|--------|
| H₁ | Regression | 83.567 | 2 | 41.783 | 57.792 | < .001 |
| | Residual | 64.346 | 89 | 0.723 | | |
| | Total | 147.913 | 91 | | | |

Note. The intercept model is omitted, as no meaningful information can be shown.

Coefficients

| Mode | · I | Unstandardized | Standard Error | [·] Standardized | t | р |
|------|-------------|----------------|----------------|---------------------------|--------|--------|
| Ho | (Intercept) | 5.609 | 0.133 | | 42.196 | < .001 |
| H₁ | (Intercept) | 1.229 | 0.424 | | 2.900 | 0.005 |
| | NSEXP | 0.119 | 0.052 | 0.164 | 2.271 | 0.026 |
| | TRUST | 0.686 | 0.072 | 0.693 | 9.587 | < .001 |

Descriptives

| | Ν | Mean | SD | SE |
|--------|----|-------|-------|-------|
| LIAISO | 92 | 5.609 | 1.275 | 0.133 |

Descriptives

| | Ν | Mean | SD | SE |
|-------|----|-------|-------|-------|
| NSEXP | 92 | 4.989 | 1.763 | 0.184 |
| TRUST | 92 | 5.522 | 1.288 | 0.134 |

Single Linear Regression on TRUST

| Model Summary - TRUST | | | | | | |
|-----------------------|-------|-------|-------------------------|-------|--|--|
| Model | R | R² | Adjusted R ² | RMSE | | |
| H₀ | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 1.288 | | |
| H₁ | 0.254 | 0.065 | 0.054 | 1.253 | | |

ANOVA

| Mod | el | Sum of Squares | df | Mean Square | F | р |
|-----|------------|----------------|----|-------------|-------|-------|
| H₁ | Regression | 9.748 | 1 | 9.748 | 6.213 | 0.015 |
| | Residual | 141.209 | 90 | 1.569 | | |
| | Total | 150.957 | 91 | | | |

Note. The intercept model is omitted, as no meaningful information can be shown.

Coefficients

| Mod | el | Unstandardized | Standard Error St | andardized t | р |
|-----|-------------|----------------|-------------------|--------------|--------|
| Ho | (Intercept) | 5.522 | 0.134 | 41.121 | < .001 |
| H₁ | (Intercept) | 4.596 | 0.394 | 11.671 | < .001 |
| | NSEXP | 0.186 | 0.074 | 0.254 2.493 | 0.015 |

Descriptives

| | Ν | Mean | SD | SE |
|-------|----|-------|-------|-------|
| TRUST | 92 | 5.522 | 1.288 | 0.134 |
| NSEXP | 92 | 4.989 | 1.763 | 0.184 |

Appendix J – Linear regression analysis results (Buyer perspective)

| Model Summary - OS_SUCCESS | | | | | | | | | |
|----------------------------|-------|-------|-------------------------|-------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Model | R | R² | Adjusted R ² | RMSE | | | | | |
| H₀ | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 1.213 | | | | | |
| H1 | 0.833 | 0.693 | 0.653 | 0.715 | | | | | |

Multiple Linear Regression on OS_SUCCESS

ANOVA

| Mode | el | Sum of Squares | df | Mean Square | F | р |
|------|------------|----------------|----|-------------|--------|--------|
| H1 | Regression | 34.672 | 4 | 8.668 | 16.965 | < .001 |
| | Residual | 15.328 | 30 | 0.511 | | |
| | Total | 50.000 | 34 | | | |

Note. The intercept model is omitted, as no meaningful information can be shown.

Coefficients

| Mode | el | Unstandardized | Standard Error | Standardized | t | р |
|------|-------------|----------------|----------------|--------------|--------|--------|
| H₀ | (Intercept) | 6.000 | 0.205 | | 29.271 | < .001 |
| H1 | (Intercept) | 0.900 | 0.632 | | 1.424 | 0.165 |
| | OS_NSEXP | 0.040 | 0.081 | 0.058 | 0.500 | 0.620 |
| | OS_TRUST | 0.223 | 0.132 | 0.250 | 1.690 | 0.101 |
| | OS_KNOWT | 0.436 | 0.149 | 0.414 | 2.922 | 0.007 |
| | OS_LIAISO | 0.251 | 0.124 | 0.281 | 2.022 | 0.052 |

Descriptives

| | Ν | Mean | SD | SE |
|------------|----|-------|-------|-------|
| OS_SUCCESS | 35 | 6.000 | 1.213 | 0.205 |
| OS_NSEXP | 35 | 4.143 | 1.751 | 0.296 |
| OS_TRUST | 35 | 5.543 | 1.358 | 0.230 |
| OS_KNOWT | 35 | 5.286 | 1.152 | 0.195 |
| OS_LIAISO | 35 | 5.543 | 1.358 | 0.230 |

Multiple Linear Regression on OS_KNOWT

| Model Summary - OS_KNOWT | | | | | | | | | |
|--------------------------|-------|-------|-------------------------|-------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Model | R | R² | Adjusted R ² | RMSE | | | | | |
| H₀ | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 1.152 | | | | | |
| H₁ | 0.693 | 0.480 | 0.448 | 0.856 | | | | | |

ANOVA

| Model | | Sum of Squares | df | Mean Square | F | р |
|-------|------------|----------------|----|-------------|--------|--------|
| H1 | Regression | 21.688 | 2 | 10.844 | 14.795 | < .001 |

| ANOVA | | | | | |
|----------|----------------|----|-------------|---|---|
| Model | Sum of Squares | df | Mean Square | F | р |
| Residual | 23.455 | 32 | 0.733 | | |
| Total | 45.143 | 34 | | | |

Note. The intercept model is omitted, as no meaningful information can be shown.

Coefficients

| Mode | el | Unstandardized | Standard Error | Standardized | t | р |
|------|-------------|----------------|----------------|--------------|--------|--------|
| H₀ | (Intercept) | 5.286 | 0.195 | | 27.138 | < .001 |
| H₁ | (Intercept) | 1.903 | 0.652 | | 2.921 | 0.006 |
| | OS_NSEXP | 0.243 | 0.086 | 0.369 | 2.810 | 0.008 |
| | OS_TRUST | 0.429 | 0.111 | 0.506 | 3.853 | < .001 |

Descriptives

| | Ν | Mean | SD | SE |
|----------|----|-------|-------|-------|
| OS_KNOWT | 35 | 5.286 | 1.152 | 0.195 |
| OS_NSEXP | 35 | 4.143 | 1.751 | 0.296 |
| OS_TRUST | 35 | 5.543 | 1.358 | 0.230 |

Multiple Linear Regression on OS_LIAISO

Model Summary - OS_LIAISO

| Model | R | R² | Adjusted R ² | RMSE |
|-------|-------|-------|-------------------------|-------|
| H₀ | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 1.358 |
| H₁ | 0.678 | 0.460 | 0.426 | 1.029 |

ANOVA

| Mode | I | Sum of Squares | df | Mean Square | F | р |
|------|------------|----------------|----|-------------|--------|--------|
| H1 | Regression | 28.833 | 2 | 14.417 | 13.628 | < .001 |
| | Residual | 33.852 | 32 | 1.058 | | |
| | Total | 62.686 | 34 | | | |

Note. The intercept model is omitted, as no meaningful information can be shown.

Coefficients

| Mode | · I | Unstandardized | Standard Error | Standardized | l t | р |
|------|-------------|----------------|----------------|--------------|--------|--------|
| Ho | (Intercept) | 5.543 | 0.230 | | 24.150 | < .001 |
| H₁ | (Intercept) | 1.598 | 0.783 | | 2.041 | 0.050 |
| | OS_NSEXP | 0.106 | 0.104 | 0.137 | 1.026 | 0.313 |
| | OS_TRUST | 0.632 | 0.134 | 0.632 | 4.727 | < .001 |

Descriptives

| _ | | Ν | Mean | SD | SE |
|-----|--------|----|-------|-------|-------|
| OS_ | LIAISO | 35 | 5.543 | 1.358 | 0.230 |

Descriptives

| | Ν | Mean | SD | SE |
|----------|----|-------|-------|-------|
| OS_NSEXP | 35 | 4.143 | 1.751 | 0.296 |
| OS_TRUST | 35 | 5.543 | 1.358 | 0.230 |

Single Linear Regression on OS_TRUST

| Model Summary - OS_TRUST | | | | | | | | | |
|--------------------------|-------|-------|-------------------------|-------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Model | R | R² | Adjusted R ² | RMSE | | | | | |
| H₀ | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 1.358 | | | | | |
| H₁ | 0.239 | 0.057 | 0.028 | 1.338 | | | | | |

ANOVA

| Mode | el | Sum of Squares | df | Mean Square | F | р |
|----------------|------------|----------------|----|-------------|-------|-------|
| H ₁ | Regression | 3.567 | 1 | 3.567 | 1.991 | 0.168 |
| | Residual | 59.119 | 33 | 1.791 | | |
| | Total | 62.686 | 34 | | | |

Note. The intercept model is omitted, as no meaningful information can be shown.

Coefficients

| Mod | lel | Unstandardized Sta | andard Error Star | ndardized | t | р |
|-----|-------------|--------------------|-------------------|-----------|--------|--------|
| Ho | (Intercept) | 5.543 | 0.230 | | 24.150 | < .001 |
| H₁ | (Intercept) | 4.777 | 0.588 | | 8.120 | < .001 |
| | OS_NSEXP | 0.185 | 0.131 | 0.239 | 1.411 | 0.168 |

Descriptives

| | Ν | Mean | SD | SE |
|----------|----|-------|-------|-------|
| OS_TRUST | 35 | 5.543 | 1.358 | 0.230 |
| OS_NSEXP | 35 | 4.143 | 1.751 | 0.296 |

Appendix K – Linear regression analysis results (Supplier perspective)

| Model Summary - NS_SUCCESS | | | | | | | | | |
|----------------------------|-------|-------|-------------------------|-------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Model | R | R² | Adjusted R ² | RMSE | | | | | |
| H₀ | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 1.225 | | | | | |
| H₁ | 0.845 | 0.715 | 0.693 | 0.679 | | | | | |

Multiple Linear Regression on NS_SUCCESS

ANOVA

| Mode | el | Sum of Squares | df | Mean Square | F | р |
|------|------------|----------------|----|-------------|--------|--------|
| H1 | Regression | 60.047 | 4 | 15.012 | 32.590 | < .001 |
| | Residual | 23.953 | 52 | 0.461 | | |
| | Total | 84.000 | 56 | | | |

Note. The intercept model is omitted, as no meaningful information can be shown.

Coefficients

| Mode | el | Unstandardized | Standard Error | Standardized | t | р |
|------|-------------|----------------|----------------|--------------|--------|--------|
| H₀ | (Intercept) | 6.000 | 0.162 | | 36.986 | < .001 |
| H₁ | (Intercept) | 0.863 | 0.477 | | 1.807 | 0.076 |
| | NS_NSEXP | 0.040 | 0.064 | 0.052 | 0.634 | 0.529 |
| | NS_TRUST | 0.145 | 0.124 | 0.149 | 1.165 | 0.249 |
| | NS_KNOWT | 0.301 | 0.118 | 0.293 | 2.560 | 0.013 |
| | NS_LIAISO | 0.454 | 0.131 | 0.457 | 3.463 | 0.001 |

Descriptives

| | Ν | Mean | SD | SE |
|------------|----|-------|-------|-------|
| NS_SUCCESS | 57 | 6.000 | 1.225 | 0.162 |
| NS_NSEXP | 57 | 5.509 | 1.571 | 0.208 |
| NS_TRUST | 57 | 5.509 | 1.255 | 0.166 |
| NS_KNOWT | 57 | 5.158 | 1.192 | 0.158 |
| NS_LIAISO | 57 | 5.649 | 1.232 | 0.163 |

Multiple Linear Regression on NS_KNOWT

| Model Summary - NS_KNOWT | | | | | | | | |
|--------------------------|-------|-------|---------------------------|------|--|--|--|--|
| Model | R | R² | Adjusted R ² R | MSE | | | | |
| Ho | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.000 1 | .192 | | | | |
| H₁ | 0.728 | 0.530 | 0.512 0 | .832 | | | | |

ANOVA

| Model | | Sum of Squares | df | Mean Square | F | р |
|-------|------------|----------------|----|-------------|--------|--------|
| H₁ | Regression | 42.154 | 2 | 21.077 | 30.412 | < .001 |

| ANOVA | | | | | |
|----------|----------------|----|-------------|---|---|
| Model | Sum of Squares | df | Mean Square | F | р |
| Residual | 37.425 | 54 | 0.693 | | |
| Total | 79.579 | 56 | | | |

Note. The intercept model is omitted, as no meaningful information can be shown.

Coefficients

| Mode | el | Unstandardized | Standard Error | Standardized | t | р |
|------|-------------|----------------|----------------|--------------|--------|--------|
| H₀ | (Intercept) | 5.158 | 0.158 | | 32.667 | < .001 |
| H₁ | (Intercept) | 1.007 | 0.560 | | 1.799 | 0.078 |
| | NS_NSEXP | 0.131 | 0.074 | 0.173 | 1.758 | 0.084 |
| | NS_TRUST | 0.623 | 0.093 | 0.656 | 6.679 | < .001 |

Descriptives

| | Ν | Mean | SD | SE |
|----------|----|-------|-------|-------|
| NS_KNOWT | 57 | 5.158 | 1.192 | 0.158 |
| NS_NSEXP | 57 | 5.509 | 1.571 | 0.208 |
| NS_TRUST | 57 | 5.509 | 1.255 | 0.166 |

Multiple Linear Regression on NS_LIAISO

Model Summary - NS_LIAISO

| Model | R | R² | Adjusted R ² | RMSE |
|-------|-------|-------|-------------------------|-------|
| Ho | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 1.232 |
| H1 | 0.804 | 0.646 | 0.633 | 0.746 |

ANOVA

| Mode | el | Sum of Squares | df | Mean Square | F | р |
|------|------------|----------------|----|-------------|--------|--------|
| H₁ | Regression | 54.907 | 2 | 27.453 | 49.292 | < .001 |
| | Residual | 30.076 | 54 | 0.557 | | |
| | Total | 84.982 | 56 | | | |

Note. The intercept model is omitted, as no meaningful information can be shown.

Coefficients

| Mode | · I | Unstandardized | Standard Error | Standardized | t | р |
|------|-------------|----------------|----------------|--------------|--------|--------|
| Ho | (Intercept) | 5.649 | 0.163 | | 34.622 | < .001 |
| H₁ | (Intercept) | 0.942 | 0.502 | | 1.877 | 0.066 |
| | NS_NSEXP | 0.134 | 0.067 | 0.171 | 2.004 | 0.050 |
| | NS_TRUST | 0.721 | 0.084 | 0.734 | 8.624 | < .001 |

Descriptives

| N | Mean | SD | SE |
|--------------|-------|-------|-------|
| NS_LIAISO 57 | 5.649 | 1.232 | 0.163 |

Descriptives

| | Ν | Mean | SD | SE |
|----------|----|-------|-------|-------|
| NS_NSEXP | 57 | 5.509 | 1.571 | 0.208 |
| NS_TRUST | 57 | 5.509 | 1.255 | 0.166 |

Single Linear Regression on NS_TRUST

| Model Summary - NS_TRUST | | | | | | | | |
|--------------------------|-------|-------|-------------------------|-------|--|--|--|--|
| Model | R | R² | Adjusted R ² | RMSE | | | | |
| H₀ | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 1.255 | | | | |
| H₁ | 0.310 | 0.096 | 0.080 | 1.204 | | | | |

ANOVA

| Mode | el | Sum of Squares | df | Mean Square | F | р |
|----------------|------------|----------------|----|-------------|-------|-------|
| H ₁ | Regression | 8.483 | 1 | 8.483 | 5.850 | 0.019 |
| | Residual | 79.762 | 55 | 1.450 | | |
| | Total | 88.246 | 56 | | | |

Note. The intercept model is omitted, as no meaningful information can be shown.

Coefficients

| Mod | lel | Unstandardized S | Standard Error St | andardized | t | р |
|-----|-------------|------------------|-------------------|------------|------|--------|
| H₀ | (Intercept) | 5.509 | 0.166 | 33 | .131 | < .001 |
| H₁ | (Intercept) | 4.144 | 0.586 | 7 | .068 | < .001 |
| | NS_NSEXP | 0.248 | 0.102 | 0.310 2 | .419 | 0.019 |

Descriptives

| | | Ν | Mean | SD | SE |
|-----|--------|----|-------|-------|-------|
| NS_ | TRUST | 57 | 5.509 | 1.255 | 0.166 |
| NS_ | _NSEXP | 57 | 5.509 | 1.571 | 0.208 |





Research Project Survey Data - Elias -